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Strategic report
For the year ended 31 December 2022

The Directors present their strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022

Activities and business review

Activity

The principal activity of U K Insurance Limited (the "Company") is the provision of general insurance

The Company is a member of the Direct Line Group (the "Group") headed by Direct Line Insurance Croup plc ("DLIG") of
which the Company is a subsidiary. The Group provides the Company with access to all Group central resocurces and
provides policies in key areas such as finance, risk, human resources and environmental matters, For an understanding of
the Croup's business as a whale, please refer to the DLIG annual report and accounts ('DLIG annual report’) for the year
ended 31 December 2022, alongside the Review of the year section below. Copies can be obtained from Direct Line Group
Company Secretariat. Churchill Court. Westmoreland Road, Bromley. BR1 1DP. the Registrar of Companies or through the
Group's website at www.directlinegroup.couk

The Company is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority ('PRA") and regulated by the PRA and the Financial
Conduct Authority {"FCA"),

Review of the year
Business review

The Company's results fell significantly below expectations in 2022 as it navigated a particularly challenging operating
environment and significant change against a backdrop of very high inflation, fundamental new regu!atory changes and
the most severe weather event it has experienced for well over a gecade.

The Company made a loss on ordinary activities before taxation of £137.8 miilion {2021: £334.7 million profit). a reduction

of £472.5 million. There was a 16 percentage point increase in the combined operating ratio to 112% where a 19

percentage point rise in joss ratio to 80% was partially offset by a 3 percentage point improvermnent in the expense and

comimission ratic.

Business developments included:

- the Company continued to invest in digital-first journeys, giving customers greater options to interact with the
Company's brands;

- a Churchill Essentials Motor product was launched, designed to enhance the Company's competitiveness in the price
comuparison website channel:

- Green Flag launched its own patrol vehicles as well as diversifying its product offering. including selling accessories via
the Creen Fiag shop and giving custemers the convenience of booking maintenance and repair services; and

- the Company's Cornmerical business continued to grow. demonstrating the benefits of its technology transformation
for its custorners and brokers.

The Company may take into account proposals from within the Group, in seeking future opportunities for growth.
Key performance indicators

Combined operating ratio

Definition - A measure of financial year underwriting profitability. A combined operating ratio of
less than 100% indicates profitable underwriting. The combined operating ratio is the sum of

claims. expense and commmission ratios and compares the cost of doing business against net 2022 2%
earned premium generated.

Airm - The Company aims to rmake an underwriting profit
Performance - The combined operating ratio increased due to claims inflation in Motor not
reflected in our pricing and significant weathet events impacting Home and Commercial 2023 96%

Solvency capital ratio’

Definition - A risk-based measure expressing the level of capital resources held as a percentage
of the level of capital that is reguired under Solvency !l

Aim - The Company seeks to hold capital resources such that in the normal course of business, 202z 127%
the Solvency |l capital coverage ratio is maintained above a minimum threshold of 128% of its

SCR

Performance - Please see page 3 for more inforrmation 2027 160%
Note-

Estimates pased on the Company s 5ovency !l internat model

Customer complaints

Definition - The number of complaints received during the year as a proportion of the average

number of in-force poiicies.

Aim - This measure indicates the level of customer service we provide. The Company aims to 2022 0.61%
improve this over time,

Rerformance - The Company experienced a dip on the previous year due to economic

headwinds creating parts, labour and hire car supply challenges. 2021 0.46%
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Net promoter score’ (points)

Definition - This is an index that measures the willingness of customers to recommend the
Company's products or services to others. It is used to gauye customers' overall experience with
a product or service, and customers’ foyalty to a brana. 2022 142.0

Aim - The Company aims to improve this over time.

Performance - The Company experienced a dip on the prewious year due to economic
headwinds creating parts, labour and hire car supply chatlenges. 2021 156.0

Note
On an aggregated i 2-month rolling basis, with 2013 rebased to 100

Financial performance
The Company's financial performance is presented in the profit and loss account on page 16 and statement of
comprehensive income on page 17.

Cross premtiutns written of £3,095.5 million (2021 £3.171.6 million) decreased by 2.495 with lower volumes and lower
average premiums across personal lines offset by strong growth in Commercial.

The Company's combined operating ratio increased by 16.0 percentage points to 112% {2021: 96%). The loss ratic
increased by 19.0 percentage points with increases across Motor, where the Company has experienced significant inflation
in third-party motor damage claims and second-hand vehicles. Overall, clairns from weather-related events in Home and
Commercial were £149 million, made up of three events, storms in February, extremely dry weather over the summer
which resulted in subsidence and the freeze in December,

The expense ratio and commission ratic decreased by 3.0 percentage points, driven primarily by the non-repeat of the
Bromley site lease termination charge in 2021.

Prior-year reserve releases were iower by £94.9 million at £164.5 million {2021 £253.4 million) and represented an
eguivalent of 5 5% of net earned premium (2021 8.8%). Prior-year reserve releases were concentrated towards more recent
accident years and were predominantly lower in Home and Motor.

Overall. the Company's technical result reduced by £461.3 million to a £354.6 million ioss {2021. £106.7 million profit).

Investment incorme increased by £6 2 million to £122.2 millicn (2021: £116 0 million) as investment income from cash and
cash eguivalents more than offset reductions in interest income from debt securities. This reflected higher interest rates
and a reduction in the Company's holdings in debt securities in the year. Realised and unrealised losses on investmeants
were £70.1 millian in the year [2021: £33.7 million gains). This was due to realised losses on the Company's debt securities
and unrealised losses on its land and buildings investments

Other incorme increased by £71,2 million ta £185.1 mitlion (2021: £113.9 miliion). with instalment income lower, as a result
of lower gross written premium, being more than offset by the introduction of a panel fee, where in 2022, the Company
created a panel of companies to provide repair services. The Company receives a fee from panel members.

The Company recorded a loss of £137.8 million on ordinary activities before taxation (2027: £3347 million profit), a
reduction of £472.5 million due to a loss in the technical resuit and realised and unrealised losses in investments, partially
offset by improvements to investment income and other income

At the end of the year. the Company had total assets of £7.161.6 million (2021: £7,218.4 miliien) and total shareholder's
funds of £1.491 5 million {2021: £1.896.6 million).

Dividends
A dividend of £90.0 million was paid during the year (2021: £408.0 million). which represented the final dividend for 2021.
The Diractors do not recornmend a final dividend for 2022,

Solvency capital

The Company’s solvency capital ratio at 31 December 2022 was 1279%. The capital position was affected by the
combination of significantly weaker levels of Motor profitability, adverse investment experience and well above average
claims from major weather events. These factors reduced the Cormpany's own funds in the year. The Board has taken steps
to strengthen its capital position during HZ and into 2023, such as reducing the risk in the investment portfolio and
agreeing a 10% whole account quota share reinsurance arrangement. It continues to jook at options to improve capital
strength. The Board aims to operate above its minimum risk appetite of arcund 128% and it will take actions where it is
below this level. in normal circumstances, the Board expects the Company to operate around a solvency capital ratio of
140%.

Presentation of financial statements

The primary financial statements are presented in accordance with Company law requirements. in addition. the Company
has taken advantage of several disclosure examptions available under Financial Reporting Standard 107 'Reduced
Disclosure Framework' ("FRS 101°).

Events after the balance sheet date

The Company has reviewed the fee for membership for its panel of repair companies and is increasing the fee from 1
January 2023. Some related companies within the Group are memibers of the repair panel.

On 26 January 2023, the Company announced that it had entered into strategic reinsurance agreements, that together
comprise a 3-year structured 10% quota share arrangement. The contracts incept with effect from 1 January 2023,

On 1 March 2023, the Company entered into arrangements relating to Motability Operations and the motor insurance
needs of approximately 600.000 of its customers.
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Risk management
The Company's risk management objectives are set out in note 3 to the financial statements The following are considered
to be the Company's emerging risks

Climate change

The Group and the Cormpany recognises that clirmate change potentially poses material lang-term financiai risks to the
business and is receiving increased scrutiny from regulators and investors. Climate change risk can be divided into physical
and transition risks, Both of these categories can manifest themselves through a range of existing financial and non-
financial risks. including insurance, market. operational, strategic and reputational risks

During 2022, the Group and Company have continued to embed further controls and targets around climate change
including submitting emission targets to the Science Based Targets initiative, whilst the Climate Executive Steeting Group
nas created a sub-group comprising of key members to provide expertise on the reporting and governance of targets.

The Group and the Company continue to monitor these nsks closely and to develop their climate change moadetling
capability, Further details on the Group's risk management approach to climate change are included in the DLIG annual
report

Changing consumer behaviours

As consumers face intense pressure on their finances and time. coupled with generational changes. this will generate a
rapid structural shift in customer demand, reguiring the Company to innovate and adapt its product offerings in order to
remain relevant.

In 2022, in response to this emerging risk. the business reviewed its new product approval processes 1o identify
opportunities to streamline the approach and enable a faster, but still safe, route to market. It also developed an
Implementation plan to embed Cansumer Duty principles.

Keeping up with digital advancements

Developments in technolagy and changes in market, regulatory and consurmer trends are creating oppartunities for new
entrants to profitably exploit new distribution channels, business model(s and niches. In response to this, the Group is
detlivering multiple programmes to provide the Group and the Company with the capabilities to enable future innovation
at pace.

Geopolitical tension

Due to heightened tensions on the world stage and a global shift in power there is a risk that measures are implemented
by governments that decrease political stability, erode countries’ relationships and contribute to increasing protectionism.
This could lead to multiple impacts including on investment performance and supply chains, The Group and Company
conducts ongoing analysis to monitor exposure to the developing geopolitical environment {for exarmple, Russia/Ukraine),
while maintaining a close eye over the political risk landscape.

Autamotive technology

New car technology is in develapment which, once on UK roads, will be transformative. Traditional Motor policies may no
fonger serve the needs of custemers. requiring changes to the Company's pricing models and policy wardings to remain
relevani. The Group's repair networks' capabilities will also need to be upgraded to effectively serve this demand. The
Group and Company will focus on launching new products that will better serve customer needs in the future while
engaging with regulators to help shape policies and understand potential impacts for the Company.

Data ethics

Consumers are becoming more aware of their data rights and regulators more interested in how firms use customer data.
The industry is also gathering more data than ever befcre and increasingly exploring more sophisticated processing
capabilities, such as artificial intelligence {'Al") and machine-learning. These trends together could lead to data beihg used
in ways that customers or regulatars find unacceptable, or which result in unfair custormer outcomes. The Group and
Company is embedding the Data Ethics Framework within Pricing & Underwriting policies and procedures, while
providing guardrails to apply across the Group and Company As new data capabilities are introduced. we will ensure
effective monitoring and oversight is in place ta adhere to the principles set out in the framework.

Outlook

High leve! strategies of the Group are determined by the Board of DLIG and these are shown in the DLIC annual report for
the year ended 31 December 2022, The Directors consider that the Company's principal activities will continue unchanged
for the foreseeabie future, For this purpose, the foreseeable future is taken {0 mean a period of at least twelve months from
the date of signing of these financial statements
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Section 172{1) Stalernenl and engagement with stakeholders

The Directors of the Company confirm that during the year under review, they have acted in the way they consider would
he most likely to pramote the long-term success of the Company for the benefit of its members as a whele, whilst having
regard to the matters set out in Section 172(1 }{a)-(f) of the Companies Act 2006 ("Section 172(1}").

The matters set out in Section 172(1) underpin the Group's purpose and vision and form the foundation for considerations
and decision making. The Group's purpose - to help people carry on with their lives, giving them peace of mind now and in
the future - is centred on customers and their long-term interests The Croup's vision - to create a world where insurance is
personal. inclusive and a force for good - reftects the desire to do business in a way that benefits all stakeholders, the
environment and wider society, Further key disclosures in respect of each of the Section 172(1) matters can be found in
the DLIG annual report for the year ended 31 December 2022 on page 17.

The Directors of DLIC, the ultimate parent entity of the Group. are also the Directors of the Company. Except in cases in
which a decision relates solely to the Company, such as the payment of a dividend. the debates and decisions of the
Directors concern both companies. The Croup's governance framework, which is consistent with the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code, applied to the Company during the year. Further information about the Company's governance
arrangerments car ke found in Lthe Direclors' report on page 7. The Company relies on resources made available by the
Group including employees and suppliers who are respectively employed and contracted by a fellow subsidiary
undertaking. DL Insurance Services Limited. Disclosures relating to employees and suppliers may be found in the financial
statements of DL insurance Services Limited and the DLIG annual report for the year ended 31 December 2022

The Croup's vision, purpose and values are set out in the DLIG s strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022 on
pages 10 to 11 and further information on the Group s five-pillar sustainability strategy. which includes engagement with
the community and protection of the environment and which applies to the Company. can be found on page 50 in DLIG's
2022 annual report,

Examples of how the Group has engaged with its stakeholders and had regard to the need to foster the Company's
business relationships with suppliers. custormers and others, and the effect of that regard. including on the principal
decisions taken by the Company during the financial year are detailed in DLIC's corporate governance report for the year
ended 31 December 2022 on pages 106 and 107. The Company s the principal underwtiter of the Group and the
combined Board meetings of DLIC and the Company monitor customer engagement by receiving customer experience
and conduct and complaints reports at schaeduled meetings. During 2022, the Board monitored the implementation of
the FCA's new Consumer Duty rules which improves good outcomes for custemers.

The Directors consider the likely consequences of any decision in the iong term. Each company within the Greup is bound
by Group policies consistent with the Group's culture in all key areas including supplier management and outsourcing,
customer conduct. human resources and the environment. Group policies and minimum standards applied by the
Company during the financial year included. for example. the Capital Management minimum standard to which the
Oirectors adhered when making decisions concerning the management of the Company's capital and declaration of
dividends. Details of decisicns made regarding dividends can be found on page 3.

The Directors and management operate the business in a responsible manner with the aim of ensuring that the Company
maintains a reputation for high standards of business conduct and good governance. The Group's Code of Business
Conduct provides guidance to the Group's employaes and contractors on the high standards of professional and etnical
conduct expected of them and aims to preserve the Croup's and the Company's reputation for high standards of conduct.
Information on the Group's Ethical Code for Suppliers can be found in the DLIG annual report for the year ended

31 December 2022 on page 103 The Company's statement on modern slavery can be found on the Group's corporate
website.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Beard by:

DocuSwgned by
v

N A/N,,lr\/\* s
L-ma&;ﬂsc-vm»_asus B

N D Manser
Director

21 March 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

The Company has chosen, in accordance with section 414c{11} of the Companies Act 2006. and as noted in this Directors'
report, to include certain additional matters in its strategic report, that would otherwise be required to be disclosed in this
Directors report:

- details of dividends declared:;

- asummary of the Company's trading activities, future prospects and principal activities of the Company are included in
the activities and business review section of the strategic report; and

- risk management of financial instruments disclosures are stated in note 3 to the financial statements,

Directors and Secretary
The names of the present Directors and Company Secretary are listed on page 1

From 1 January 2022 to date the following change has taken place:
Director Appointed Resigned
P Jlames 27 January 2023

Going concern

The Directors believe that the Company has sufficient financial resources to meet its financial needs, including managing a
mature portfolio of insurance risk. The Directors believe the Company is well positioned to manage its business risks
successfully in the current economic climate. The trading update that was approved by the Board of Directors and
announced to the stock market on 17 January 2023 in respect of the Group's trading for 2022 and outlock for 2023, set out
the challenging conditions that the Group. and tharefore the Company, has faced in particular with respect to the severe
weather in Decermber 2022 and further increases in rmotor claims inflation, as well as the impact on the Company s
investment property portfolio valuation. The strategic report describes the Company's capital position. including the
capital actions taken in the last 12 months designed to ensure the continued strength of the kbalance sheet and sets out
management actions that the Croup continues to pursue to improve capital strength. The Company’s financial position is
alsa covered in that section. The financia! disclosures relating to the Company's principal risks are set out in note 3. This
covers insurance, market and credit risk: and the Company's approach te monitering, managing and mitigating exposures
to these risks,

The Diractors have assessed the principal risks of the Company over the duration of the planning cycle, which runs until
2026 The Croup's Risk Function has carried out an assessment of the risks to the strategic plan ("the Plan*) and the
dependencies for the success of the Plan. This included running adverse scenarios on the Plan to consider the downside
risks to the Plan and subseguent impact on forecast profit. The key scenarios applied to the Plan were in relation to the
impact of adverse claims inflation. delay in pricing actions, increase in operating expenses and a fall in asset values. The key
judgements and assumptions applied in these scenarios were as follows:

- adverse claims inflation: the Group's Plan includes a scenario for inflation being higher than expected. leading to claims
costs increasing by 3% with the Group and market response delayed by six months.

- delay in pricing. future initiatives deliver 50% of expected value.

- increase In operating expenses: there is a delay of 12 months to achieving henefits from 2023 expense reduction
initiatives.

- fali in asset vafues: an increase in credit spreads of 50 basis points in the UK and 25 basis points outside of the UK in
2023 with spreads remaining elevated.

In connection with the trading update released on 11 January 2023, a reforecast based on the Plan was prepared without
delay.

The Risk Function has also carried out an assessment of the risks to the Group's and Company's capital position over 2023
and 2024 Two specific macroeconoric scenarios, a moderate and a severe, have been run ta assess the possible impact
on own funds in the period to 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024 The macroeconormic assumptions for key
parameters such as Consumer Price index. GDP and bank base rate for the moderate scenario reflect the adverse end of
the Bank of England November Monetary Policy Committee forecast range. The severe scenario adopts the key parameters
from the 2022 Bank of England Banking Stress Test, which is described as “severe but plausikle’.

A reverse stress test was also performed to identify a combination of stresses that would result in capital loss and thus
threaten the viabiiity of the Company i.e. a reduction of own funds to befow the solvency capital requirement The reverse
stress test combines the severe macroeconomic stress with the impacts from a series of three natural catastrophes from
the 2022 PRA Insurance Stress Test

In the moderate and severe scenarios. it was concluded that the Company's solvency capital reguirement would not be
breached following the implementation of management actions. such as de-risking the asset portfolio. the purchase of
additional reinsurance cover, asset disposal or, if necessary, raising equity

Further informasion in relation to the sensitivity of key factors on the Company's financial positicn are included in the
financial statements. The insurance risk note {(note 3.3.1) sets cut the impact on prafit before tax of an increase and a
decrease in claims inflation of 200 basis points for two consecutive years. The market risk note (note 3.3 2) sets out the
impact on prefit before tax and equity of a 100 basis points increase in spreads on financial investments and the impact of
a 100 basis points increase in interest rates on financial investments and derivatives

Therefore, having made due enquiries, the Directors reasonably expect that the Company has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for at least 12 months from 21 March 2023 {the date of approval of the financial
statements) Accordingly. the Directors have adopted the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
Existence of branches outside the UK

The Company has a branch in the Republic of South Africa and the Republic of Ireland.
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Empioyees
All staff are employed by a feliow subsidiary undertaking of DLIG, Dt Insurance Services Limited. Disclosures refating to
employees may be found in the annual report and financial statements of DL insurance Services Limited.

Disciosure of information to the Auditor
Each persan whao was a Director of the Company on the date of approval of this report confirms that:

- so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information, being information needed by the auditors in
connection with preparing their report, of which the Company's Auditer is unaware; and

- each Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and shall be interpreted in accordance with the provisicns of section 418 of the Companies Act
2006,

Auditor

Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as Auditor and it is the intention of the Directors to
reappoint Deloitte LLP under the deemed appointment rules of section 487 of the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ indemnities
DLIC has made qualifying third-party indemnity provisions far the benefits of the Directors of the Company which remain
n force at the date of this report.

Statement of corporate governance arrangements

The Directors are committed to maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance The Company did not apply a
separate corperate governance code as its parent Direct Line insurance Group plc applied the UK Corporate Governance
Code, which was applied across the Direct Line Group and accordingly also to the Company. The Group provides each
member company with access to its central resources and provides policies in all key areas such as finance. risk, human
resources and the environment. Thase central resources and policies are aligned to the Group's governance framework,
which is consistent with the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code,

The core elements of the Croup's governance framework are the:

Schedule of Matters Reserved to the Board and the Board Committees Terms of Reference:

- High Level Control and System of Governance Framewark document;

- Risk appetite statements:

- Enterprise Risk Management Strategy and Framework;

- Croup policies, which address specific risk areas. are aligned to the Group's risk appetite, and inform the business how it
needs to conduct its activities to remain within risk appetite: and

- Minimum standards, which interpret the Group policies into a set of requirerments that can be implemented
throughout the Group.

During the year. the Company compiied with the Group's governance framework. Further infoermation on the system of
governance in operation threcughout the Croup can be found in the DLIG annual report 2022

Business relationships

Examples of how the Directors have had regard to the need to foster the Company's business relationships with suppliers,
customers and others, and the effect of that regard, including on the principal decisions taken by the Company during the
financial year can be found in the DLIG corporate governance report an pages 106 and 107

Statement of Directors' responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). including FRS 107 'Reduced Disclosure Framework',
and applicable law. Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the year and the profit or loss of the
Company for the financial year. In preparing these financial staternents the Directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply thermn consistently;

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent:

- state whether applicable United Kingdom standards, comprising FRS 107 have been followed subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

- prepare the financial statements cn the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company
will cantinue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company's transactions and disclase, with reascnable accuracy, the Company's financial position at any time: and enable
thern to ensure the financial staterments comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsibie for safeguarding
the Cormpany's assets and. hence, taking reasonable steps to prevent and detect fraud and cother irregularities.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Beard by

e DG S IgrEd by

/\//V\_W‘\_ 2
Ewswmmsﬁer

Director

21 March 2023
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Independent Auditor's Report to the shareholders of U K Insurance Limited
31 December 2022

Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. Opinion
In aur opinion the financial statements of UK Insurance Limited (the "Company"):

- give a true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs as at 21 December 2022 and of its ioss for the year then
ended:

- have been properiy prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including
Financial Reporting Standard 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework’; and

- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

- the profit and loss account.

- the staterment of comprehensive income:

- the balance sheet;

- the statement of changes in equity; and

- the related notes 1 to 27 of the financial statements, excluding the capital adequacy disclosure in note 3, calculated in
accordance with the Solvency |l regime, which is marked as unaudited.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable faw and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards. including Financial Reporting Standard 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framewaork' (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

2. Basis for opinion

We condutted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)') and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial
staterments section of our report.

We are independent of the Company in accerdance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council's {the "FRC") Ethical Standard as appiied to
public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
confirm that we have not provided any non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard to the Company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:

- valuation of insurance liabilities:
1) The frequency. severity and inflationary assumptions for bodily injury claims: and
2) Periodic payment crders ('PPOs") inflation and discount rates.

- valuation of illiquid investments,
7) Commercial real estate |oans. infrastructure debt and private placement bonds: and
2) Investment property:

Within this report. key audit matters are identified as follows:

"5 Newiy identified;
" " Fncreasad leval of risk,
L 'Similar level of risk. and

[ | .
- Decreased level of risk.

Materiality The materiality that we used for the financia! statements was £21.6m, which approximates to 1.4%
of Shareholders equity and 0.8% of the current year gross earned premium and is capped at 90%
(2021: 90%) of the materiality used for the audit of the consolidated financia!l statements of the
Company's parent, Direct Line insurance Group plc ("Group”).

Scoping Audit work to respond to the risks of material misstaternent was performed directly by the audit
team.

Significant During the year we have made the following changes to our audit approach:

changes in our

- We updated our key audit matters to include inflation assumptions with regard to bodily injury
claims and margins above the actuarial best estimate. removing our previously separate key
audit matter on these margmns.

approach

in direct response to the trading updates issued by the Group, we have further made the following
changes to our audit approach

- We reassessed our approach to determining materiality and changed our key benchmark from
profit before tax to shareholders’ equity including profit/loss for the period. resulting in a £3.6m
decrease to matenality applied.

- We changed our controls testing strategy in light of the economic environment and the Groups
results; and

- We engaged additional internal specialists to assist us in performing audit procedures to address
the incremental risks across the audit, including fair value and reguiatory specialists.
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4. Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financiai statements, we have concluded that the Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the Directors' assessment of the Company's abiiity to continue to adeopt the going concern basis of
accounting included.

- We obtained an understanding of the internal controls relating to management’s going concern assessmeant process:

- We assessed the impact of the profit warnings issued during the year on management’s contro! environment and
forecasting and evaluated the impact on historical forecasts:

- We agssessed the impact of management’s actions in relation to the profit warnings on the future capital position of the
Company:

- We assessed the impact of emerging issues and the current macroeconomic environment on the future capital position
of the Company;

- We assessed management’s Group's Strategic Plan and challenged management's underiying business plans and
forecasts to support key forward-looking assumptions such as the Group's growth rate and discount rate given our
understanding of the Company and its industry: and

- We evaluated management’s reverse stress test; independently perforiming sensitivity analysis to assess the impact of
various scenarios on the Group's liguidity and solvency headroom.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for a
period of at least twelve months from when the financial staterments are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the refevant
sections of this report

5. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the moest significant assessed risks of material misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud) that we identified These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall
audit strategy. the aliocation of resources in the audit: and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming cur
opinion therean, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

5.1 Valuation of insurance liabilities

Refer to page 23 (Accounting Policies), page 28 (Notes to the financial staterments - Note 2) and page 53 (Notes to the
financial staterments - Note 21).

The Company's gross insurance liabilities total £3.6 billion (2027: £3.7 biliion) and represent the single largest liability on the
balance sheet. Valuation of these liabilities requires management to select methods and assumptions that are subject to
high levels of estimation uncertainty. Consequently, small changes in these methods or assumptions can materially impact
the valuation of these liabilities. We have identified the following three key areas of focus for cur audit given their
significance to the Company's result and the high level of estimation uncertainty. We have also identified these as potential
fraud risk areas

5.1.1 The frequency, severity and inflationary assumptions for bodily injury claims

Key audit matter description

The frequency and severity of bodily injury claims have a significant impact on the valuation of the insurance liabilities and
the setting of these assumptions is driven by a variety of factors. These factors include the completeness and accuracy of
source data, the transparency of any changes in the reporting of bodily injury claims, and actuarial assumptions being
consistent with emerging data, market factors and the Company's reserving policy. As a result of these factors, thereis a
significant level of estimation uncertainty in the valuation of these claims, which increases the susceptibility of the balance
to material misstaterment due to error or fraud.

Furthermore, reduced traffic volumes throughout accident years 2020 and 2021 and a return to normality during 2022
increased inherent uncertainty underlying the estimation of the ultimate number of non-large bodily injury claims in the
rmost recent cohorts of data. This uncertainty is further amplified given the long-tailed nature of bodily injury claims
Further, continued uncertainty regarding the impact of the Whiplash Reform in May 2021 increases inherent uncertainty
underlying bodily injury claims.

Moreover, we have identified that inflationary assumptions have a significant impact on the valuation of bedily injury
insurance liakilities and there is a significant level of estimation uncertainty inherent with these assumptions in light of the
macroeconomic environment. The allowance for inflation has been made by the Company within both their best estimate
and margin above the best estimate.

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter
We have gained a detailed understanding of the end-to-end claims and reserving procass and obtained an understanding
of relevant controls

tn order to gain assurance over the compileteness and accuracy of source data used in the Company's actuarial calculations
and by our in-house actuarial specialists in performing our work. we have evaluated the data reconciliation controls and re-
perforrned reconciliations on the actuarial data back to the financial ledger and source systems.
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Having done this, we warked with our actuarial specialists ta:

- Inspect and challenge the reserving process in relation to bodily injury claims by assessing relevant documentation and
meeting with the Actuarial Director and their team:
- Inspect and challenge the Company's documented methodology and key assumptions in respect of the prior years as
well as the current year, with particular reference to inflationary impacts, This included:
Using our in-house reserving software to help us challenge the Company's response to emerging claims
trends;
- Conducting sensitivity testing on the methoedeology and assumptions used in the current year selections
and challenging changes from pricr year.
- Comparing the Company's cost per claim and frequency diagnostics to market benchrmarks and
independent reserve review results; and

- Analyse the consistency in reserving strength and reserve releases in comparison with prior years;

- Lleverage third party economic studgiies to challenge the appropriateness of management's adverse scenarjos, with a
specific focus on care worker wage inflation given the sensitivity of the Company's bodily injury claims to this
assumption, whilst locking back to cutcomes from previous economic downturhs; and

- Perform a ‘stand back’ test to challenge the reasonableness of the overali insurance liabilities between periods in light of
the level of uncertainties that existed at each respective reporting date.

Key observations

We have concluded that the assumptions used in the caiculation of the bodily injury claims reserves are reaschable.

5.1.2 The infiation and discount rate assumptions for PPOs ' ..
Key audit matter description
The Company is required to settie a proportion of large bodily injury claims as PPOs rather than [ump sum payments. The

valuation of PPOs has a material impact on the financial statements. with liabilities totalling £611.4 million (2021: £731.3
million) on a discounted gross basis as detailed in note 21.

Given the angoing uncertainty in the UK's inflation environment and investment markets, the selection of the inflation and
discount rate assumptions is highly jJudgemental. The PPOs are sensitive to the economic assurmptions selected and as at
31 December 2022, the Company valued PPOs using an inflation rate curve tinked to the PRA published risk free rate
{2027 fixed 3.5%). Additionally. the Company used a discount rate curve linked to the investment yield of assets used to
match the PPO liabilities {Z021: fixed 3.5%) These assumptions represent a key source of estimation uncertainty for the
Company. which increases the susceptibility of the balance to material misstaterment due to error or fraud.

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

Woe have gained a detailed understanding of management’s process for setting these assurmptions and obtained an
understanding of the relevant controls surrounding the setting of the inflation rates across the book of the business and
the discount rate used in the PPO valuation. namely the challenge and approval of these assumpticns by the reserving
committee.

We have worked with our actuarial specialists to:

- Inspect and challenge management’'s PPO inflation assumption by evaluating relevant documentation, meeting with
the Actuarial Director and their team;

- Inspect and evaluate management's sensitivity testing on the PRO inflation assumption, requesting additional sensitivity
testing from management where needed. and

- Inspect and challenge management on the methodology and rationat for deriving the discount rate by benchmarking
the selected discount rate against external sources and comparing with market economic data.

In addition. we performed the following procedure

- Worked with our valuations specialist to evaluate the reasonableness of the selected discount rate curve.

Key observations

We have determined that the inflation and discount rate assumpticns used in the calculation of the PPO claims reserve
are reasonable.

5.2 valuation of illiquid investments

Refer to page 117 (Audit Committee Report), pages 24 and 25 {Accounting Policies} and page 49 and 50 (Notes to the
financial statements - notes 12 and 14),

In the current year, we continue to identify the valuation of illiquid investments. specifically the commercial real estate
loans. infrastructure debt. private placement bonds and investrment property investments as a key audit matter as
described below,

5.2.1 Commercial real estate loans, infrastructure debt and private placement bonds

Key audit matter description

We have identfied a key audit matter in relation to these credit portfolios totalling £535.5 million (2021: £542.8 million}:
Given the Company continues to recognise and measure financial instruments under 1AS 39, these instruments are
measured at amortised cost and require the recognition of an impairment when an incurred loss event arises. Significant

management judgement is required in determirung if an incurred loss event has occurred and, in the instance an event
has occurred, there is significant estimation uncertainty in determining the impairment charge.

We deem there to be an continuing risk of default or delinquency on these less liquid assets owing to high and sustained
levels of uncertainty in the UK economy from rising inflation and interest rates.
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How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

We have obtained an understanding of, and tested the relevant contrels that mitigate the risk overthe valuation of illiquid
investments, Qur work included attendance at the year-end impairment review mesting Lo observe the operation of a key
management review control.

In addition, we performed the following procedures:

- tested a sample of interest payments to bank during the year to test for defauit or delinquency in interest payments:

- utilised market indices to identify commercial real estate loans at risk and inspected the tenancy breakdowns for
potentiat risks of unit closure given the current economic issues facing the UK

- challenged management on loans of interest where indicators could point to issuer financial difficuity and obtained
evidence to help assess whether management’s conclusion was reasonable; and

- engaged our complex pricing specialists to determine an independent fair value of these assets to identify any
significant decreases in value below book cost.

Key observations
We considered the accounting treatment applied ta he reasnnable. In performing our procedures. we did not note any
indicators of material impairment

5.2.2 Investment property . ‘i

Key audit matter description

The investment properties held by the Company comprise of retail. retail warehouse, supermarkets and foodstores,
industrial and alternative properties. As noted in disclosure note 12, the total value as at 31 Decermnber 2022 is £278.5
million (2021: £317.0 million). Civen the current UK macroeconomic environment with inflationary pressures and
increasing interest rates affecting the cost of debt, we have identified the methodology and assumptions used for valuing
the investment property portfalio as a key audit matter in the current year In light of the volatility across the whole
investment property market. we have expanded the scope of the key audit matter to cover the whole portfolio (£278.5
rilllon) rather than just the retail and alternative sectors identified in the prior year (2021 £101.6 miilion).

We considered the valuation of the investment properties to be a key audit matter as the determinaticn of fair value
involves significant judgement by the external valuation experts. Valuatiocn methodology for investrment properties are
subjective in nature and involve various key assumptions. The use of different valuation methodology and assumptions
could produce significantly different estimates of fair value. With the volatility in the UK financial market. the property
valuers can attach less weight to previous market evidence in determining a fair value. This leads to greater levels of
estimation uncertainty in determining the valuation.

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

We have cbtained an understanding of and tested the relevant control related to the annual meeting with management's
external valuation expert; this is where management review and challenge the assumptions and methodologies used in
determining the fair value In addition, we performed the following procedures:

- Worked with our real estate specialists who challenged the management’s expert on the estimated rental value, yield
and capitalisation rate assumptions and methodologres used in the valuation of the properties;

- Assessed the competence, capability and objectivity of management’s expert;

- Tested the completeness and accuracy of the data inputs used in the valuation process performed by management
and their external valuer, and

- Tested the data inputs used in the valuation mode! for investment properties, by agreeing occupation rates, unit sizes.
contracted rent to the underlying signed agreements and property reports We then re-performed the calculation of the
yields applied using this data

Key observations

We considered the accounting treatment applied to be reasonakle. In performing our procedures, we did not note any
indicators of material misstaterments within the investment property portfolio fair value.
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6. Our application of materiality

6.1 Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the
ecenomic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would e changed or influenced. We use materiality both in
planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements

£21.6 million {2621: £25.2 miiticn)

Materiality

Basis for The materiality approximates to 1.4% (2021 1.3%) of shareholders’ equity including prcfit/loss for the
determining period and 0.8% (2021: 0.8%) of the current year gross earned premium and is capped at 90% (2021:
materiality 90%] of the materiality used for the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company's
parent, Direct Line Insurance Group plc.
Rationale In light of the econamic circumstances identified in the current year, the cancellation of the dividend
for the and the trading updates issued by the Group, we determined that the critical benchmark for the
benchmark Company was no longer profit before tax. Instead, we determined that the critical benchmatk for the
applied Company was shareholders equity {(including profit/loss for the peried) given the focus on distributable

reserves and future dividend payment capability.

We also considerad this measure in conjunction with gross earned premium given the nature of the
Company as the sole underwriter of the Group

6.2 Performance materiality

We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the propability that, in aggregate. uncorrected
and undetected misstatermeants exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole. Performance materiality
was set at 67.5% of materiality for the 2022 audit (2021: 70%). In determining performance materiality, we censidered the
following factars:

- the impact of the trading updates on the Company.

- we have audited the Company for a number of years and so have knowledge of both the Company and the
environment it operates in:

- our ability to rely on contrels over a number of significant business processes: and

- our past experience of the audit. which has indicated a low number of corrected and uncorrected misstatements
identified in prior periods, and our assessment that these were not hikely to recur in the current period

6.3 Error reporting threshoid

Woe agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £1.08
miilion (2021 £1.26 million), as well as differences beiow that threshold that. in our view. warranted reporting on
qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the
overalf presentation of the financial statements.

7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1 Scoping
The scope of our audit was determined by obtaining an understanding of the Company and its environment. inciuding
internal control and assessing the risks of material misstaternent

12
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7.2 Our consideration of the contro| environment

IT Controls

in planning our 2022 audit, we identified 16 systerns that were material to the Company's financial reporting processes
These systems handled data relating to premiums and claims and we intended to rely on the IT and business controls
associated with these systems. Having worked with our in-house IT specialists to assess the operating effectiveness of the IT
contrals associated with these systems, as well as the wider general IT control environmenit across the Company. we were
able to rely upon the IT controls associated with 14 systems, with 1 system in the process of establishing controls and 1
system having insufficient evidence.

Business processes and financial reporting controls

In planning our 2022 sudit. we identified 15 business processes that were material to the Company's financial reporting
and which we tested. These processes spanned the Company's material transactions and account balances including the
premiums,. ctaims, reinsurance, expenses and investments processes and part of tha reserving process relating to
reconciliation of data Of these, we intended to directly rely on the business controls associated with 14 of these processes.
Further in response to the heightened engagement risk we changed our control rotation strategy and tested 2 more
processes in the current yoar for operating effectiveiess. Having completed our testing over the operating effectiveness of
business controls associated with these processes, through a combination of current period testing and reliance on prior
perlod testing, we concluded that we were able to rely upon the business controls associated with 10 processes planned.

Across 5 of these business processes, we identified deficiencies and across a further 2, we identified insights which we
communicated to those charged with governance and these have been remediated or are in the process of being
remediated.

7.3 Our consideration of climate-related risks

We have gained an understanding of management’s processes to address climate-related risks, including management’s
implementation of the Climate Executive Steering Group and Group sustainakility framework. We have assessed whether
these initiatives undertaken by management are aligned with the Climate Change Roadmap developed by the Association
of British Insurers. We have perfarmed a risk assessment of the financial impact of climate-related risks on the financial
statements and concluded the risks of material misstatement due to climate risk factors are remote. In doing so we
considered the estimates and judgements applied to the financial statements and how climate risks impact their
valuation. We challenged management's disclosure relating to climate change in note 3 of the financial statements. We
have considered whether infoermation included in the climate-related disclosures in the financial statement were
consistent with our understanding of the business and its environment.

8. Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial statements and
our auditor's report thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report.

Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report. we do not axpress any form of assurance conclusion thereon

Our responsibility is to read the other information and. in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether
this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If. based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors' responsibilities statement. the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial staternents and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstaterment,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Cormpany’'s ability to continue as a
going cancern, disclosing as applicable. matters refated to gaing concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the Directors either intend to liguidate the Company or tc cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
s0.

10. Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial staterments as a whole are free from
material misstaterment. whether due to fraud or error. and to issue an auditor's report that inciudes our opinion
Reasonable assurance is a high ievei of assurance. but is not a guarantee that an audit conductead in accordance with ISAs
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if. individually or in the aggregate, they could reascnably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of usars taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the fingncial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsipilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.
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1. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud

Irregularities. including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in fine
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities. including fraud is detailed below.

11.1 Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and nen-compliance
with laws and regulations, we considered the following:

- the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design of the
Company's remuneration policies, key drivers for Directors’ remuneration. bonus levels and performance targets;

- the Companys own assessment of the risks that irregularities rmay occur either as a result of fraud or error that was
appraoved by the Audit Committee on 2nd Novernber 2022,

- results of our enquiries of management. internal audit and the audit committee about their own identification and
assessment of the risks of irregularities:

- any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Company's documentation of their policies and
procedures relating to:

- identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any
instances of non-compliance;

- detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or
alleged fraud: and

- the interna! controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with faws and regulations:

- the matters discussed among the audit engagement team and relevant internal specialists. including actuarial, tax, real
estate. valuations, IT, forensic and industry specialists regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial
staterments and any potential indicators of fraud,

As a result of these procedures we considered the opportunities and incentives that may ex/st within the organisation for
fraud and identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas: valuation on insurance liabilities in common
with all audits under I15As {UK). we are alsa required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management
override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the Company operates in, focusing on
provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect an the determination of material amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The key laws and regulations we considered in this context included the UK Companies Act,
Listing Rules and tax legislation.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial
statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the Company's ability to operate or to avoid a material
penalty. These included the Company's operating licence. regulatory solvency requirerments such as those under the
relevant Solvency i requirements and those required by the PRA. FCA and envircnmental regulations.

11.2 Audit response to risks identified

As a result of performing the above, we identified the valuation of insurance iiahilities as a key audit matter related to the
potential risk of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations. The key audit matters section of our report explains
the matter in more detail end atso describes the specific procedures we performed in response to that key audit matter.

in addition to the abave. our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:

- reviewing the financia! statement disclosures and testing supporting decumentation to assess compliance with
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financiai statements:;

- enauiring of management. the audit committee and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation
and claims;

- performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or Unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material
misstaterment due to fraud.

- enhancing our stand-back assessments for accounting judgements, increasing and broadening the scope of our fraud
inquiries in response to the trading updates issued by management,

- reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance. reviewing internal audit reports and reviewing
correspondence with the PRA and FCA:

- meeting directly with the PRA and FCA and engaging a regulatory specialist to support our performance of audit
procedures around requlatory compliance; and

- in addressing the risk of fraud through management override cf controis, testing the appropriateness of journal entries
and other adjustrments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a
potential bias, and evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the
normal course of business.

We also cormmunicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team
members including internal specialists, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations throughout the audit,

T4
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

- the information given in the strategic report and the Directors' report for the financial year for which the financial

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements: and
- the strategic report and the Directors report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the Iight of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its envircnment obtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified any rmaterial misstaterments in the strategic report or the Directors’ report.

13. Matters on which we are required to report by exception

13.1 Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Cormpanies Avt 2008 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or
- adequate accounting records have not been kept. or returns adeguate for our audit have not been received from

branches not visited by us: or
- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

13.2 Directors' remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to repaort if in our opinion certain disclosures of Directors'
remuneraticn have not been made.

We have nothing to report in respect of this matter.

14. Other matters which we are required to address

14.1 Auditor tenure

Following the recommendation of the audit committee of Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc [RBSG"). which at the time
owned the Croup, we were appointed by the Board of Directors of RBSG on 21 March 2000 to audit the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2000 and subsequent financial periods. When the Group became
independent of RBSC the Croup's Board reappointed us to audit the newly demerged Croup. Taking into account our
service to predecessor otganisations. the period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals and
reappointrments of the firm is 23 years. covering the years ending 31 December 2000 to 31 December 2022,

14.2 Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Audit Committee

Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional reports to the audit committee we are required to provide in
accordance with [SAs (UK]).

15. Use of our report

This report is made sofely to the Company's mempers. as a body. in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006, Cyr audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's members as a
body. for our audit work, for this report. or for the opinions we have formed

DocuSigned by:

EIRPREAREREA
Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of Dejoitte LLP

London. United Kingdom

21 March 2023
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2022

Technical account - general business Notes £m £m
Earned premiums, net of reinsurance

Gross premiums written 3,095.5 317186
Outward reinsurance premium {141.6) (186.4)
Net premiums written 2,953.9 29852
Change in the provision for unearned premiums

Gross amount 37.4 (3.6)
Reirsurers' share {24.1) {(24.2)
Change in the net provision for unearned premiums 13.3 (278)
Earned premiums net of reinsurance 4 2,967.2 29574
Clalms incurred, net of reinsurance

Claims paid

Gross amount {2,393.7) (1.949.0)
Reinsurers’ share 69.0 894
Net claims paid (2,324.7) {1.859.6)
Change in the provision for claims

Gross amount 20.8 {63.8)
Reinsurers' share (80.7) 106.4
Nat change in provision for clairms (59.9) 42.6
Claims incurred, net of reinsurance 4 {2,384.6) (1.817.0)
Net operating expenses 5 {937.2} (1.033.7)
Balance on the technical account for general business - transferred to non-

technical account (354.6) 1067
Non-technical account - general business

Investment income 6 122.2 116.0
Realised (losses)/gains on investments 6 (55.9} 36
Unrealised (iosses)/gains on investments 3] (14.1) 295
Investmen: expenses and charges & {20.5) (35.0)
Other income 7 185.1 11z9
{Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before taxation (137.8) 3347
Tax on (loss)/profit on ordinary activities 8 26.3 (79.2)
{Loss)/profit on ordinary activities after taxation (1m.5) 2548

The attached notes on pages 21 to 57 form an integral part of these financial statements
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U K insurance Limited

Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2022

01179980

2021
Note Em £m
{Loss)/profit attributable to the owners of the Company - - {111.5) 2548
Other comprehensive loss
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the profit and loss account:
Fair value |osses on available-for-sale investments 19 (295.9} (86.0)
Add. net lossesf{gains) on available-for-sale investments included in the profit
and loss account ? 24.9 B0
Tax relating to items that may be reclassified - 19 __&74 172
Other comprehensive loss for the year e (203.86) {76.8)
Total comprehensive {loss}/income for the year attributable to the owners of (3:15.1) 178.0

the Company

The attached notes on pages 21 to 57 form an integral part of these financial staterments.
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U K Insurance Limited 01179980
Balance sheet
As at 31 December 2022
2022 2021
e e _ _ hotes fm_ £m_
Assets - - i
intangible assets 10 3.1 2.4
Right-of-use assets 11 57.0 588
Investments
Land and buildings 12 278.5 3170
Investments in Group undertakings and participating interests
Shares in Croug undertakings 13 ns 115
Other financial investments
Debt securities and other fixed income securities T4 3,245.7 41305
Other [oans 14 £39.2 451.6
Derivative financial instruments 14,15 n.2 359
3,786.1 46180
Total investments 14 4£,006.1 49465
Reinsurers' share of technical provisions
Provision for outstanding premiums 16,22 55.6 797
Claims outstanding 16 1,028.9 1.109.6
1,084.5 1.1893
Debtors
Debtors arising out of direct insurance operations - policyholders 598.7 6075
Debtors arising out of direct insurance operations - intermediaries 118.6 812
Debtors arising cut of reinsurance operations 34.0 41.0
Amounis owed by Group undertakings' 0.5 21
Other debtors 17.0 8.4
Deferred tax assets £7.8 1.0
Current taxation 81.4 195
o T seo 7607
Other assets
Cash at bank and in hand B864.9 7232
Prepayments and accrued income
Accrued interest and rent - 03
Deferred acquisition costs 17 189.2 1874
Other prepayrments and accrued income from contracts with customers 38.8 49.8
S - ‘ S 228.0 ) 237,5-'
Total assets 7,161.6 79184
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U K Insurange Limited 01179980
Balance sheet
As at 31 December 2022
2022 2021
_ Notes B £m £rm
Liabilities ) 7
Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 18 730.8 7308
Cther reserves 19 {195.0) 86
Profit and loss account 955.7 1.157.2
Shareholder's funds 14915 1,896.6
Subordinated liabilities 20 - 2553
Technical provisions
Claims outstanding 21 3,632.7 26535
Provision for urearrmed premiums 22 1,463.3 1.5007
5.096.0 51542
Provisions for other risks 23 54.1 50.0
Creditors
Creditors arising out of direct insurance operations 3.4 41
Creditors arising cut of reinsurance operations 57.4 45.5
Armounts owed to Group undertakings' &£1.4 868
Amounts owed to credit institutions 60.6 516
Derivative financial instruments 15 29.6 19.2
Lease liabilities 65.1 66.2
Other creditors 24 185.0 1635
§42.5 4369
Accruals and deferred income
Accruals 747 1222
Deferred income 2.8 32
77.5 1254
Total shareholder's funds and liabilities 7.161.6 79184

MNotes

Al Croue undertakings witnin the Group are 100% owned by the Company s ultimate parent Direct Line Insurance Group ple

The attached notes on pages 21 to 57 form an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2023,

They were signed on its behalf by:

——DoeuSigned by

. /\/q/\/\»c—\/\_?

e E LML TRECE 10

N D Manser

Director
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U K Insurance Limited 01179980

Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Called up

share Other Total

capital resarves Profitand  Sharehoiders

{note 18} (note 19)  loss account funds

£ £m £m fm

Balanr.e at1 January 202_'17&_- o e e 7308 834 13109 21271
Profit for the year - - 254.8 2548

__Othercomprehensiveloss = _ 76w - (768}
Tatal comprehensive income for theyear = 36!1 2548 1780

Transfer of business realised net gain on available- for sale investments -
gross (note 19) — - {0.6] (0.6)
Transfer of business realised net gain on available-for-sale investments -

tax {note 19) - - Q.1 G.1

_ Dividendspaidnete9) .. - . — (080} 4080

Total transactions with equity holders o - - — (4085}  (4085)
Balanceat3December202t . 708 86 11572 18%¢6
Loss for the year - - {111,5) {1L.5)
__Other comprehensive loss e - (203.6) - {203.6)
_Total comprehensive loss for t the eyear - (203.8) {n.5) (315.1}
_Dividends paid (noteoy - - ($0.0) (90.0)
Toﬂrﬂaptjnﬂith equity holgers e - - {90.0) (90.0}
Balance at 31 December 2022 730.8 {195.0) 955.7 1,491.5

Total changes in equity fer the year were entirely attributable to the equity shareholder of the Company.

The attached notes on pages 21 to 57 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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U K Insurance Limited 01179980

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 3t December 2022

1. Accounting policles
1.1 Basis of preparation

The Company's financial statements are prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 'Reduced
Disclosure Framework'. The financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis except for investment property.
available-for-sale ("AFS") and derivative financial assets and financial investrments which are measured at fair value

The Company is incorporated and domiciled in the UK and registered in England and Wales. The Company is limited by
shares.

In prepanng these financial statements. the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements
of effective International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as adopted by the UK but makes amendments where
necessary to comply with Companies Act 2006, which includes presenting its profit and loss account and balance sheet in
accordance with the formats prescribed for insurance entities under company taw.

The Company has taken advantage of the following FR5101 disclosure exemptions:

- FRS 101.8 (eA}. the requirernents of the second sentence of paragraph 110 and of paragraphs 113 {a). 114,115,118, 119
fa)to {c). 120 t0 127 and 122 of IFRS 15 'Revenue from contracts with customers:

- FRS 101 8 (eB}): the requirements of paragraph 52, paragraph 58, the second sentence of paragraph 89 and paragraphs
90 to 871 of IFRS 16 'Leases’,

- FR5 101 8 (g) the requirements of paragraphs 10(g), 10(f), 16, 38A, 388, 38C. 380. 111 and 134-136 of IAS 1
‘Presentation of Financial Statements' to preduce a cash flow statement, and to make an explicit and unreserved
statement of compliance with I[FRSs;

- FRS 1018 (h}: the requirements of {AS 7 'Statements of Cash Flows' to produce a cash flow statement and related notes:

- FRS 103 8 (i}: the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 37 of IAS 8 '‘Accounting Palicies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors' to include new IFRSs that have been issued but that have yet to be applied; and

- FRS 1018 (k) the requirements in I1AS 24 'Related Party Disclosures' to disclose related party transactions entered into
betweean two or more members of a group. provided that any subsidiary party to the transaction is wholly owned by
such a member.

The Company has considerable financial resources and as a consequence, the Directors believe the Company is well
placed to manage its business risks successfully. After making enguiries. the Directors have a reascnable expectation that
the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the
Directers continue to adopt the going concern basis 1In preparing the financial statements as explained in the Directors’
report on page 6. The Company's business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development,
performance and position are set out in the Strategic report on pages 2 te 5 and the Directors' report on pages6to 7. In
addition, note 3 to the financial statements includes the Company's objectives. policies and processes for managing its
insurance and financial risks and capital.

Adoption of new and revised standards

The Company has adopted the following new amendments to IFRSs and internaticnal Accounting Standards ("|ASs') that
became mandatorily effective for the Company for the first time during 2022. None of these amendments require changes
to existing accounting policies.

In May 2020, the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to three standards:

- Amendments to IFRS 3 'Busihess Combinations' update a reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business combinations;

- Amendments to IAS 16 'Property, Plant and Equipment’ prehibit a company frem deducting from the cost of property.
plant and equipment amounts received from selling items preduced while the company is preparing the asset for its
intended use. Instead. a company will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss: and

- Amendments to IAS 37 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets' specify which costs a company
includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making.

Also, in May 2020, the IASB issued 'Annual Improvernents to IFRS Standards 2018-2020' which makes minor amendments
to:

- IFRS 1 'First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards which simplifies the application of IFRS 1 for
a subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter of IFRS standards later than its parent:

- IFRS @ 'Financial Instruments - this amendment clarifies that - for the purpose of performing the "10 per cent test' for
derecognition of financia! liabilities - in determining those fees paid net of fees received, a borrower includes only fees
paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender
on the other's behalf: and

- IFRS 16 ‘Leases' which removes the illustration of payments from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements.

1.2 Consolidated financial statements

The financial staterments contain information about U K Insurance Limited as an individual Company and do not contain
consolidated financial information as the parent of a group. The Company is exempted by section 400 of the Companies
Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements as the Company and its subsidiaries are
included by full consolidation in the IFRS consolidated financial statements of its immed ate and ultimate parent, Direct
Line Insurance Group pic, a public company registered in the United Kingdom. The registered address of Direct Line
Insurance Group ple is Churchill Court, Westmoreland Road, Bromley BR1 1DP.
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U K Insurance Limited 0oNn79980
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting policies continued

1.3 Foreign currencies

The Company's financial statements are presented in sterling which is the functional and presentational currency of the
Company.

Transactions in foreign currencies are transiated into sterling at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the
transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the relevant functional currency at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising on the settlement of foreign
currency transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities are reported in the profit and loss account.

Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated into sterling at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the values are determined. Translation differences arising on non-monetary
iterns measured at fair value are recognised in the profit and loss account except for differences arising on AFS non-
monetary financial assets held at fair value through cther comprehensive income ("FVOQCT), which are recognised in other
comprehensive income,

1.4 Contract classification

Insurance contracts are those contracts where the Company (the insurer) has accepted significant insurance risk from
another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event (the
insured event) adversely affects the policyholder.

Once a contract has heen c¢lassified as an insurance contract. it remains an insurance contract for the remainder of its
lifetime. even If the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period, unless all rights and obligations are extinguishad
1.5 Revenue recognition

Premiums earned

Insurance and reinsurance premiums comprise the total premiums receivable for the whaole period of cover provided by
cantracts incepted during the financial year, adjusted by an unearned premium reserve, which represents the proportion
of the premiums incepted in the year or prior periods that relate to periods of insurance cover after the balance sheet date
Unearned premiums are calculated over the period of exposure under the policy on a daily basis. a monthly basis or
allowing for the estimated incidence of exposure under policies.

Premiums colleciad by intermediaries ar other parties, but not yet received, are assessed based on estimates from
underwriting or past experience and are included in insurance premiums. Insurance premiums exclude insurance
premium tax or equivalent local taxes and are shown gross of any commission payable to intermediaries or other parties.
Cash back payments to policyholders under motor telematics policies represent a reduction in earned premiums,
Investment income

interest income

Interest income on financial assets is determined using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate
methed is a way of calculating the amortsed cost of a financial asset (or group of financial assets) and of allocating the
interaest income over the expected life of the asset

Dividend income

Dividend income from investment in subsidiaries is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
Income from land and buildings

Rental income from land and buildings is recognised in the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the period
of the contract Any gains or losses arising from a change in fair value are recognised in the profit and loss account.
Instaiment income

Instalment incorme comprises the interest income earnad on policyholder receivables, where outstanding premiums are
settled by a series of instalment payments. Interest is earned using an effective interest rate method over the term of the
policy.

Other opetating income (accounted for in accordance with IFRS 15 '‘Revenue from Contracts with Customners')

Pane| fees

The Company has a panal of repair companies to provide repair services, Repair companies pay a fee for membership on
the panel. As the Company completes its performance obligation evenly over the term of the contract and revenue is both
invoiced and received monthly in equal instalments no contract asset or liability is inciuded on the balance sheet.
Vehicle replacement referral income

vehicle replacement referral income comprises fees recognised at a point in time in respect of referral income received
when a customer or a non-fault poiicyholder (claimant) of another insurer has bean provided with a hire vehicle from a
preferred supplier.

income is recognised when the customer or ¢claimant has been provided with a vehicle by the supplier
Other income

Commission fee income in respect of services is recognised at a point in ime on satisfaction of related performance
obligations Where variable consideration is identified in a contract, this revenue is estimated and constrained to the extent
that it 1s highly improbabie that revenue recognised will be reversed. incorne is stated excluding applicable sales taxes.

22



DocuSign Envelope 1D: 00CAZ2779-E434-40BF-B39D-1AAT2A4E9806
U K Insurance Limited 01179980

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1.6 Claims incurred

Insurance claims are recognised in the accounting period in which the loss occurs. Provision is made for the full cost of
settling outstanding claims at the balance sheet date, including claims incurred but not yet reported at Lhat date. net of
salvage and subrogation recoveries.

Outstanding claims provisions are not discounted for the time value of money except for claims to be settled by Periodicat
Payment Orders ['PPOs") established under the Courts Act 2003

A court can award damages for future pecuniary loss in respect of personal injury, or for other damages in respect of
personal injury and may order that the damages are wholly or partly to take the form of PPOs. These are covered in more
detail in note 2.3. Costs for both direct and indirect claims handling expenses are also included.

Provisions are determined by management based cn experience of claims settled and on statistical modeis which require
certain assumptions to be made regarding the incidence, timing and amount of claims and any specific factors such as
adverse weather conditions. When calculating the total provision required. the historical development of claims is analysed
using statistical methodology to extrapolate the value of incurred claims (gross and net) at the balance sheet date. Also
included in the estimation of incurred claims are factors such as the potential for judicial or legislative infiation.

Provisions for more recent claims make use of techniques that incorporate expected loss ratios and average claims cost
(adjusted for inflation] and frequency methods. As claims mature, the provisions are increasingly driven by methods based
on actual claims experience The approach adopted takes into account the nature. type and significance of the business
and the type of data available, with large claims generally being assessed separately. The data used for statistical modelling
purposes is generated internaily and reconciled to the accounting data.

The calculation Is particularly sensitive to the estimation of the ultimate cost of claims for the particular classes of business
at gross and net levels and the estimation of future claims handling costs. Actual ciaims experience may differ from the
historical pattern on which the actuarial best estimate is based and the cost of settling individual claims may exceed that
assumed. As a result, the Company sets reserves based on a management best estimate, which inciudes a prudence
margin that exceeds the internal actuarial best estimate. This amount is recorded within claims provisions.

A liability adegquacy provision is made for unexpired risks arising where the expected value of claims and expenses
attributable to the unexpired periods of poiicies in force at the balance sheet date exceeds the unearned premium reserve
in relation to such policies after the deduction of any acquisition costs deferred and other prepaid amounts (for example.
reinsurance}. The expected value is determined by reference to recent experience and allowing for changes to the
premium rates.

The provision for unexpired risks is calculated separately by reference to classes of business that are managed together
after taking account of relevant investment returns.

1.7 Relnsurance
The Company has reinsurance treaties and other reinsurance contracts that transfer significant insurance risk.

The Company cedes insurance risk by reinsurance in the normal course of business, with the arrangement and retention
limits varying by product line, Qutward reinsurance premiums and claims are generally accounted for in the same
accounting period as the direct business to which they relate.

Reinsurers' share of technical provisions include balances due from reinsurance companies for ceded insurance liabilities.
Armounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a consistent rmanner with the outstanding claims provisions or
settled claims associated with the reinsured policies and in accordance with the relevant reinsurance contract. Recoveries
in respect of PPOs are discounted for the time value of money.

A reinsurance impairment provision is assessed in respect of reinsurance debtors to allow for the risk that the reinsurance
asset may not be collected or where the reinsurer's credit rating has been downgraded significantly and this is taken as an
indication of a reinsurer's difficulty in meeting its obligations under the reinsurance contracts. This also includes an
assessment in respect of the ceded part of claims provisions to reflect the counterparty default risk exposure to long-term
reinsurers share of technical provisions particularly in relation to PPOs. Changes in the provision affect the Company by
changing the carrying value of the net reinsurance asset with the movement being recognised in the profit and |oss
account.

1.8 Deferred acquisition costs

Acguisition costs relating to new and renewing insurance policies are matched with the earning of the premiums to which
they relate. A proportion of acquisition costs incurred during the year is therefore deferred to the subsequent accounting
period to match the extent to which premiums written during the year are unearned at the balance sheet date.

The principal acquisition costs deferred are direct advertising expenditure, directly attributable administration costs,
commission paid and costs associated with telesales and underwriting staff.

1.9 Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Company are stated at cost less accumulated amartisation and impairment
losses. Amortisation is charged to the profit and loss account over the assets’ ecenomic lives using methods that best
reflect the pattern of economic benefits and is included in operating expenses.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting policies continued

1.10 Right-of-use assets ("ROU"} and lease liabilities

Where the Company is a lessee

At inception, the Cormpany assesses whether a contract contains a lease arrangement. which involves assessing whether it
obtains substantially ali the economic benefits from the use of a specific asset. and it has the right to direct the use of that
asset. The Company recognises a ROW asset and a iease liahility at the commencement of the lease (when the underlying
asset is available for use) The ROU asset is initially measured based on the present value of the lease payments. plus initial
direct costs less any incentives received. Lease payments include fixed payments and variable payments, Variable
payments relate to contractual rent increases linked to inflation indices. The ROU assetl is depreciated over the lease term,
or its economic useful life if shorter, and is subject to impairment testing if there is an indicator of impairment. When
leases cantain an extension of purchase option which is reasonably expected to be exercised this is included in the
measurement of the lease,

in calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date unless the interest rate implicit in the lease is readily determinabkle. The incremental borrowing rate
is determined based on available risk-free market yield-to-maturity pricing linked to the lease amount and term, and
includes a credit spread. The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interast rate
method and remeasured, with a corresponding adjustment to the ROU asset, when there is a change in future lease
payments, terms or reassessment of options.

The Cormpany leases office space.
Where the Company is a lessor

Leases where a significant proportion of the risks and rewards of ownership is retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Lease incoma from operating leases is recognised in the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis
aver the lease term.

1.1 Investments - land and buildings

Land and buildings comprise freehold and |easehold properties that are held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
both. Investrment property is not depreciated but is stated at fair value based on valuations completed quarterly by
Independent registered valuers and in accordance with guidance issued by the Rayal Institution of Chartered Surveyors,
Fair value is based on current prices for similar properties adjusted for the specific characteristics of each property. Any
gain or joss arising from a change in fair value is recognised in the profit and loss account.

Land and buildings are derecognised when it has been either disposed of or permanentiy withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefit is expected from disposal. Any gains or losses on the refirement or disposal of investment
property are recegnised in the profit and loss account in the year of retirement or disposal.

1.12 investments in Group undertakings

Investments in CGroup undertakings are stated at cost less any impairment.

1.13 Other financial investments

Other financial investments are classified as avafiable-for-sale, held-to-maturity, held at FYTPL, or icans and receivables

Purchases or sales of other financial investments that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place are recognised on the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell
the asset

Available-for-sale (AFS’)

Other financial investments can be designated as AFS on initial recognition. AFS financial assets are initially recognised at
fair value plus directly related transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at fair value. Impairment losses and
exchange differences, resulting from translating the ameortised cost of foreign currency monetary AFS financial investments
are recognised in the profit and loss account, together with interest calculated using the effective interest rate methoc.
Other changes in the fair value of AFS financial assets are reported in a separate component of shareholder's funds until
disposal when the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the profit and loss account

A financial asset is regarded as guoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularily available from an
exchange, dezaler, braker. industry group. pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring rmarket transactions on an arm s-length basis The appropriate quoted market price for an asset held is
usually the current bid price. When current bid prices are unavailable. the price of the most recent transaction provides
evidence of the current fair value as long as there has not been a significant change 1n economic circumstances since the
time of the transaction. If conditions have changed since the time of the transaction (for example. a change in the risk-free
interest rate following the most recent price quote for a corporate bond) the fair value reflects the change in conditions by
reference to current prices or rates for similar financial instruments, as appropriate. The valuation methodology described
above uses observeble market data.

If the rmarket for a financial investment is not active, the Comjpany establishes the fair value by using a valuation technique.
Valuation techniques include using recent arm's-length market transactions between knowledgeable and willing parties {if
available) reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same. discounted cash flow
analysis and option pricing maodels. If there is a valuation technique cormmonly used by market participants to price the
instrurment. and that technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in actual market
transactions, the Company uses that technique.
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Held-to-maturity ((HTM'}
Non-derivative financial investments not designated as AFS, or loans and receivables with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturity, where the intention and ability to hold them to maturity exists. are classified as HTM.

Subsequent to initial recognition. HTM financial investments are measured at amortisad cost using the effective interest
rate method ess any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables

Non-derivative financial investrments with fixed or deterrminable repayments that are not quoted in an active market are
classified as loans and receivables. except those that are classified as AFS or HTM. Loans and receivables are initially
recognised at fair value plus directly related transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate methad less any impairment losses

impairment of financial assets

At each balance sheet date. the Company assesses whether thers is any objective evidence that a financial investment or
group of financial investments classified as AFS. HTM or loans and receivables is impaired. A financial investment or
portfolio of financial investments is impaired and an impairment loss incurred if thera is objective evidence that an event
or events since initial recognition of the investment have adversely affected the amount or timing of future cash flows from
the investmeant.

AFS

When a decline in the fair value of a financial investment classified as AFS has been recognised directly in equity and there
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. the cumulative loss is removed fram equity and recognised in the profit
and loss account. The loss is measured as the difference between the amortised cost of the financial investment and its
current fair value.

Impairment iosses on AFS debt instrurments are reversed through profit or lass. if there is an increase in fair value that is
objectively related to a subseguent event.

HTM and loans and receivables

If there is oljective evidence that an impairment loss on a financial investment or group of financial investments classified
as HTM or loans and receivables has been incurred, the Company measures the amount of the loss as the difference
between the carrying amount of the investment or group of investments and the present value of estimated future cash
flows from the investment or group of investments, discounted at the effective interest rate of the instrument at initial
recognition.

Impairment losses are assessed individually, where significant, or collectively for investments that are not individually
significant.

Impairment {osses are recognised in the profit and loss account and the carrying amount of the financial investment or
group of financial investments is reduced by establishing an allowance for the impairment losses. If in a subsequent period
the amount of the impairment loss reduces, and the reduction can be ascribed to an event after the impairment was
recognised, the previcusly recognised loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance.

Insurance receivables

Insurance receivables comprise outstanding insurance premiums where the policyholders have elected to pay In
instalments or amounts due from third parties where they have collected or are due to collect the money from the
policyholder

Receivables also include amounts due in respect of the provision of fegal services.

For armounts due from policyholders. the bad debt provision is calculated based upon pricr loss experience. For all
balances cutstanding in excess of three months. a bad debt provision is made. Where a policy is subsequently cancelled,
the outstanding debt that is overdue is charged to the profit and loss account and the bad debt provision is released back
to the profit and loss account

Derivatives and hedging

Derivative financial instruments are recoghised initially at fair value on the date the derivative contract is entered into, and
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. Derivative fair values are determined from
guoted prices in active markets where available Where there is no active market for an instrument, fair vaiue is derived
from prices for the derivative's components using appropriate pricing or valuation models.

Gains and |osses arising from changes in the fair value of a derivative are recognised as they arise in the profit and loss
account uniess the derivative is the hedging instrument in & qualifying hedge. The Company enters into fair value hedge
relat'onships.

Hedge relationships are formally documented at inception. The documentation identifies the hedged item and the
hedging instrurment and details the risk that is being hedged and the way in which effectiveness will be assessed at
inception and during the period of the hedge. If the hedge is not highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows and
fair values attributable to the hedged risk, consistent with the docurmented risk management strategy. or if the hedging
instrument expires or is sold. terminated or exercised. hedge accounting is discontinued.

In a fair value hedge, the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the profit and loss account. The gain or
ioss on the hedged item attrbutable to the hedged risk 1s recognised in the profit and loss account and, where the
hedged item is measurad at amortised cost, adjusts the carrying amount of the hedged item.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive the cash flows frerm that asset have expired or when the
Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and has transferred substantially all the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset.
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1. Accounting policies continued

1.14 Cash at bank and in hand

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and demand deposits with banks together with short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of change in value,

Amounts owed to credit institutions. comprising bank overdrafts. are measured at armortised cost using the effective
interest rate method and are repayabte on demand

1.15 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value net of transaction costs incurred. Other than derivatives which are
recognised and measured at fair value, all other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the fiability is discharged. cancelled or expires.
1.16 Subordinated liabilities

Subordinated liabilities comprise subordinated guaranteed dated notes which are initially measured at the consideration
received less related transaction costs. Subsequentiy. subordinated liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method,

1.17 Provisions for other risks

The Company recognises a provision for a present legal or constructive cbligation from a past event when it is mare likely
than not that it will be required to transfer economic benefits to settle the obligation and the amount can be retiably
estimated.

The Company makes provision for all insurance industry lavies, such as the Financial Services Compensation Scheme and
Motor Insurance Bureau.

wWhen the Company has an onerous contract, it recognises the present obligation under the contract as a provision. A
cantract is onerous when the unavoidable costs of meeting the contractual obligations exceed the expected future
economic benefit.

1.18 Taxation
The tax charge or credit represents the proportion of the tax payable and receivable arising in the current year only.

The current tax charge is based on the taxable profits for the year as determined in accordance with the relevant tax
legislation, after any adjustments in respect of prior years. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the profit and
loss account because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible

Provision for taxation is cafculated using tax rates that have been enacted. or substantively enacted. by the balance sheet
date and is allocated over profits before taxation or amounts charged or credited to components of other comprehensive
income and equity, as appropriate.

Deferred taxation is accounted for in full using the balance sheet liability method on all temporary differences between
the carrying amount of an asset or liability for accounting purposes and its carrying amount for tax purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary timing differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probabie that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can ke utilised

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is probable that they will not
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets are realised or liabilities
are settled based on laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred
tax is charged or credited in the profit and loss account, except when it relates to items charged or credited to other
comprehensive income or equity. in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company
intends to settle its current assets and liabilities on a net basis.

1.19 Dividends

Interim dividends on Ordinary Shares are recognised in eguity in the period in which they are paid. Final dividends on
Ordinary Shares are recognised when they have been approved at the Annual General Meeting ('AGM").

1.20 Accounting developments
1.20.1 Transition to IFRS 17 'Insurance contracts' and IFRS 9 'Financial instruments’

The Company will apply IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 for the first time on 1 January 2023 IFRS 17 is expected to bring a significant
change to how the Company accounts for its insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts held. The Company
expects to adopt the fully retrospective approach on transition and to apply the Premium Allocation Approach. assuming
that far any contracts of greater than one year, measurement of thase contracts under the Premium Allocation Approach
would naot differ materially from the General Measurement Model also permitted by IFRS 17. The Cormpany wili apply IFRS
9 retrospectively and wil! apply the option to designate debt instruments that would otherwise be categonsed as fair value
through other comprehensive income as fair value through profit and loss'

Cn adoption of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9, the Company will alse transition from FRS 107 to [FRS
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1.20.2 Deferred adoption of IFRS 9 disclosures

As the Company has deferred the adoption of IFRS 9, 'Amendments to IFRS 4: Applying IFRS @ Financial Instruments with
IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts requires certain interim disclosures in relation to the fair value movements of financiaf assets as
outlined below.

The fair value at the end of the reporting period for financial assets with contractual terms that give rise on specified dates
te cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount are disclosed in note 26. The
amount of change in the fair value during the period for these financial assets was.

- AFS debt securities and other fixed interest securities £285.7 million decrease (2021: £93.8 million decrease}):
- infrastructure debt £7.7 miltion decrease {2021: £2.1 million decrease)

- commaearcial real estate loans £1.0 miilion increase (2027- £05 million decrease} and

- other loans £1.0 million decrease {2021 £nil).

Derivative assets do not have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates te cash flows that are solely payment of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. The fair value of these financial assets is disclosed in note 26
and the amount of change in the fair value during the period was an increase of £30.7 million (2027: £26.9 million
increase)

In note 3 3.3 the Company has disciosed the carrying amount of financial investments at the end of the reporting period
by credit risk rating grade. as defined in IFRS 7 'Financial instrurments: Disclosures’. The fair value of financial assets that
meet the 'solely payments of principal and interest' criteria. and at the end of the reporting period do not have a low credit
risk. was £300.9 million {(2021: £3266.0 mitlion). The carrying value of these financial assets at 31 December 2022 was £304.8
million {2021: £368.1 miltion).

2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The reported resuits of the Company are sensitive tc the accounting policies, assumptions and estimates that underlie the
prepatation of its financial information. The Company's principal accounting policies are set out on pages 21 to 27.
Company law requires the Directors, in preparing the Company's financial statements, to select suitable accounting
policies, apply them consistently and make judgements and estimates that are reasonable

In the absence of an applicable standard or interpretation, IAS 8, "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors’, reguires management to develop and apply an accounting pclicy that results in relevant reliable information in
the light of the requirements and guidance in UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice dealing and IFRS with similar
and related issues and Schedule 3 of the Cornpanies Act 2006 for the preparation and presentation of financial
statements. The judgements and assumptions involved in the Company's accounting policies that are considered by the
Board to be the most important to the portrayal of its financial condition are discussed below.

2.1 Impairment provisions - financial assets

Accounting Judgement

The Company's financial assets are classified as AFS or HTM debt securities or loans and receivabiles. The Company makes a
judgement that financial assets are impaired when there is objective evidence that an event or events have occurred since
initial recognition that have adversely affected the amount or timing of future cash flows from the asset. The determination
of which events could have adversely affected the amount or timing of future cash flows from the asset requires
judgement. In making this judgement, the Company evaluates, among other factaers: the normal price volatility of the
financial asset; the financial heaith of the investee: industry and seactor performance; changes in technelegy or aperational
and financing cash flow: and whether there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the asset below
its cost. Impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in these factors.

On a quarterly basis, the Company reviews whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired based
on the following criteria:

- actual or Imminent, default on coupcn interest or nominal:

- adverse movements in the credit rating for the investee/borrower.

- price performance of a particular AFS debt security, or group of AFS debt securities, demonstrating an adverse trend
compared to the market as a whole: and

- whether an event has occurred that could be reliably estimated and which had an impact on the financial asset orits
future cash flows.

The majority of the Company's financial assets are classified as AFS debt securities (31 December 2022: £3.147.5 million:
31 December 2021: £4.039.3 million). Impairment losses and exchange differences arising from translating the ameortised
cost of foreign currency monetary AFS financial assets are recognised in the profit and loss account. Other changes in fair
value are recognised in a separate component of equity. No impairments have been recognised in the AFS portfolio. Had
all the declines in AFS debt securities asset values met the criteria above at 31 December 2022, the Company would have
suffered a loss of £262 9 million (2021: £24.8 million loss), keing the transfer of the total AFS reserve for unrealised losses to
the profit and loss account However, these movements represent mark-to-market movements and, as there was no
objective evidence of any loss events that could affect future cash flows, nc impairments have been recorded.

The Cormpany has a small portfolic of investments classified as HTM {31 December 2022: £98.2 million: 31 December 2021:
£91.2 million). These assets are measured at amortised cost and there have been no impairment losses (2021: £nil),

The Company has a portfolio of investments classified as loans and receivables, primarily comprising infrastructure debt
and commercial real estate loans (total 31 December 2022: £439 2 million; 31 December 2021, £451.6 million), There was
an impairment of £1.8 million within the loans and receivables portfolio in the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: £2 1
miltion).
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2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
continued

2.2 Fair value of investments in land and buildings

Sources of estimation uncertainty

The Company holds a portfolio of investments in land and buildings, with a value at 31 December 2022 of £278.5 million
(2021: £317.0 million). Where quoted market prices are not available. valuation techniques are used to value these
properties. The fair value was determined using a methodology based on recent market transactions for similar properties,
which have been adjusted for the specific characteristics of each property within the portfolic. The valuation in the
fimancial statements is based on valuations by independent registered valuers and the techniques used include some
unobservatile inputs. The valuations used for investments in land and buildings are classified in the level 3 category of the
fair value hierarchy (see note 26),

Any significant risk of a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment property portfolio within the next
financial year will be dependent on a number of factors inciuding the devefopments in the economic outlfook which could
result in volatility in market prices. rental yields or occupancy rates. Sensitivity analysis for the investment praperty portfolio
has been independently calculated by the Company's registered valuers by flexing inputs of internal models to a
reasonable alternative yield to ascertain the impact on property valuations (see note 12). There are no significant sources of
estimation uncertainty in relation to climate-related matters in valuing the investment property portfolio.

2.3 General insurance: outstanding claims provisions and related reinsurance recoveries

Accounting judgement

Reserves are based on management's best estimate, which includes a prudence margin that exceeds the internal actuarial
best estimate. This margin is set by reference to various actuarial scenario assessments and reserve distribution percentiles.

It also considers other long- and short-term risks not reflected in the actuarial inputs. as well as management's view of the
uncertainties Iin relation to the actuarial best estimate

Source of estimation uncertainty

The Company makes provisian for the full cost of cutstanding claims from its general insurance business at the balance
sheet date. including claims estimated to have been incurred but not yet reported at that date and associated claims
handling costs. Qutstanding claims provisions net of refated reinsurance recoveries at 31 December 2022 amounted to
£2.603.8 million (2021: £2,543.9 million)

Claims reserves are assessed separately for large and attritional claims. typically using standard actuarial methods of
projection. Key sources of estimation uncertainty include those arising from the selection of specific methods as well as
assumptions for claims frequency and severity through the review of historical claims and emerging trends The Company
seeks to adopt a prudent approach to assessing claims liabilities, as evidenced by the favourable development of historical
clairms resarves

The corresponding reinsurance recoveries are calculated on an equivalent basis, with similar estimation uncertainty. as
discussed in note 1.7. The reinsurance bad debt provision is mainly held against expected recoveries on future PPO
payments.

The most common method of settiing badily injuty claims is by a lump sum. When this inctudes an element of indemnity
for recurring costs, such as foss of earnings or ongeing medical care, the settiement calculations apply the statutory
discount rate (known as the Ogden discount rate) to reflect the fact that payment is made on a cne-off basis rather than
pericdically over time. The current Ogden discount rate is minus 0.25% for England and Wales. minus 0 75% in Scotland.
and minus 1.5% in Northern lreland

The Company reserves its large badily injury claims at the relevant discount rate for each jurisdiction with the
overwhelming majority now case reserved at minus 0 25% as rmost will be settled under the law in England and Wales The
Ogden discount rate will be reviewed again at the latest in 2024. Sensitivities for the impact of a potential change in the
Ogden discount rate are shown in note 3.3.1,

The Company setties some large bodily injury claims as PPQOs rather than lump sum payments. The Company has
estimated the likelihcod of large bodily injury claims settling as PPOs Anticipated PPOs consist of both existing large |oss
case reserves including allowances for development and claims yet to be reported to the Company. Reinsurance is applied
at claim level and the net cash flows are discounted for the time value of money The discount rate is consistent with the
expected return on the assets backing these long-term liabitities. in 2022. the Company reviewed the estimates used to
discount PPOs as described in note 21 Given the significant changes both in the current economic environment and the
longer term outlook. the Company changed from flat rate inflation and discounting assumption to a yield curve approach,
allowing for an increase in short-term inflation and higher long-term real returns, This resulted overall in the application of
a real discount rate of 0 9% (2021 0.0%), the combination of cash flow weighted inflation and discounting of 4 296 and
5.1% respectively. the latter driven by an expected increase i the fong-term yield of the assets backing PPO fiabilities.

The tabte in note 27 to the financial statements provides an analysis of outstanding PPO claims provisions on a discounted
and an undiscounted basis at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 and further details on saurces of estimation
uncertainty. Details of sensitivity analysis to the discount rate applied to PRPO claims are shown in note 331
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Highier Cigirns inflativn rermains a risk. given the continuing high level of consumer prices and wage inflation. In 2022, the
CPlwas at its highest level for the past decade and is not expected to normalise until 2024. Pressure is likely to remain
strong on wages, with potential implications for the cost of care. Global supply chain issues remain prablematic. resulting
in a risk of price increases for products and components in short supply. A range of general and specific scenarios for
excess inflation have been considerad in the reserving process. The percentages applied range from 2% to 5% and for
future periods of up to 5 years, depending on the class of business and claim type and allowing for the level of inflation
included in the best estimate. The Company has observed a slow-down in the processing of recoveries and liabilities with
third party insurers which increases the estimation risk of these amounts. A range of data types and methods are used with
historical comparators to assess the underlying position separate from the timing effects to mitigate the uncertainty.

Changes in the climate can impact both frequency and severity of losses. particularly for wind storm and flood events. This
is taken into account in the planning process, pricing and through our capital medel the impact on roserves is enly seen
when major loss events occur,

Changes in claims frequency present greater uncertainty for the unearned part of the business, whereas uncertainty over
the level of claims severity has a greater impact on both the earned and unearned claims reserves. Claims severity risk is
particularly acute with respect to care costs for large bodily injury claims as well as input costs and replacement costs for
damage claims, in particular increased second-hand car costs in Motor. The sensitivity analysis in note 3.3.1 locks at a 200
basis point change in the claims inflation assumed in the actuarial best estimate over the next two years and therefore
continues to remain relevant and is within the Group's booked reserve margin. The risk of material adjustments to the
Croup's estimates which could affect the carrying value in 2023 is highest in relation to long tail classes where infiation has
been lass evident to date. The Croup therefore reserves for the risk of excess inflation on these classes within the
management margin

3. Risk management
1.1 Risk management overview

DLIC's Board {"Group Beard’) has responsibility for setting and monitoring adherence to the risk strategy risk appetite and
risk framework for the Group. inciuding the Company. The Croup Board has established a risk management model that
separates the business's risk management responsibilities into "Three lines of defence” as set out below

First line of defence - Risk ownership
Second line of defence - Oversight, chatlenge and support of first line
Third line of defence - Independent assurance

The DLIC annual report containsg a comprehensive review of the risk management framework for the Group. Copies can be
obtained from Direct Line Group Secretariat, Churchiil Court, Westmoreland Road, Bramley, BR1 1DP, the Registrar of
Companies or through DLIG's wepsite at www.directlinegroup.co.uk

3.1.1 Risk strategy and risk appetite

The Croup's risk appetite statements express the level of risk the Group is prepared to accept to achieve its business
objectives Detalls of the Group's risk strategy and risk appetite are contained in the DLIG annual report

3.1.2 Enterprise risk management strategy and framework

This sets out, at & high level, the Croup's (which includes the Company) approach to setting risk strategy and the
Enterprise-wide Risk Management Framework for managing risks. Details of the Croup's Enterprise-wide Risk
Management Framework are cantained in the DLIG annual report.

3.1.3 Potential effects of inflation, economic uncertainty, and the cost of living crisis

The globhal pelitical situation. including Russia's invasion of Ukraine materially affecting European energy supply, has
resulted in high inflation rates, and a cost of living crisis. This compounded with recent UK paolitical instability is likely to
result in a longer than expected pericd of low or negative growth that will significantly impact businesses and customers
across the UK well into 2024,

The Company's reserves and claims from underwritten policies are exposed to the risk of changes in claims development
patterns arising from inflation. Uncertainty in clairms reserves and underwriting risk has significantly increased due to the
Increase in future inflation and its outlook. and the additional uncertainty when forecasting its impact on claims reserves.

The insurance sectors that the Company operates in are particularly affected by inflation and its impact on the costs of car
parts, used car prices, services and care warker |abour, and construction materials. This, in addition to the supply chain
dislocation has led to materially increased claim severity on Motor damage and Home and Commercial Property claims,
with a longer term risk of care worker inflation increasing Motor large bodily injury claims

Inflationary pressures exacerbate the exceedingly difficult trade-offs the Bank of England faces between supporting
growth and controlling price pressures and are precipitating a cost of living crisis. The rise of inflation has prompted
Central Banks to undergo one of the fastest programmes of interest rate rises in recent history. The Group's Investrment and
Treasury function has analysed the potential impact of a recession on heldings in the investrment portfolio, finding that
holdings are relatively safely pesitioned. helped by solid diversification and good ongeing investment management
oversight

Following the end of the transition period on 31 December 2020 and the trade and co-operation agreement between the
UK and the EU. there remains uncertainty as to the longer term effect of Brexit on the Group. for examptle the risk of
shortages in tradesman and care workers increasing claims costs.
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3. Risk management continued

3.1.4 Climate change

The Cempany recoegnises that climate change potentially poses material fong-term financial risks to the business and is
receiving increased scrutiny from regulators and investors, Climate change risks can be divided into three categories:
physical. transition and liability risks. The climate-refated risk in relation to the Group's and Company's liability insurance
products rermains a less material exposure.

Following the issue of the PRA's Supervisory Statement $53/19, the Group has appaointed the Chief Risk Officer as the
Senior Management Function holder for Climate Change and put an initial plan in place to address the expectations set
out in the supervisory statement.

The risks and impacts of climate change are wide ranging: the Group and the Company are focusing increasingly on
climate change, with reiated risk management activity which includes broadening the Strategic risk category to inciude
Climate risk within Environmental, Social and Governance risk to allow for better recognition of internal and external
drivers of climate related risk and to provide a focal point for the reporting of risks relating to ¢limate change. monitering
climate ¢hange through the Emerging Risk process. forming a Climate Change working group and continuing the journey
to implerment the recommendations of the Financial Stability Board's Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
("TCFD").

As part of embedding the management of these climate-related financial risks, the Group and the Company participated
in the Bank of England’s Climate Biennial Exploratory Scenarios exercise during 20217, and the second round of ahalysis in
early 2022. This stress testing exercise aims to understand the impact on the Group and the Company of future climate
scenarlos incorperating physical and transition risks. The Croup will continue to develop its risk management systems and
monitoring toaols in for physical risk, building on the work undertaken to complete the Climate Biennial Exploratory
Scenario.

3.2 Risk and capital management modelling

The Directors, guided by the Group Board. have ultimate respansibility for ensuring that the Company has sufficient funds
to meet its liabilities as they fall due. The Company carries out detailed modelling of its assets, liabilities and the key risks to
which these are exposed. This modeiling inciudes the Company's own assessment of its solvency capital requirement
"SCR") using its internal model approved by the PRA in 2016. The SCR guantifies the insurance, market, credit and
operational risks that the regulated entities are undertaking

The Group Board is closely involved in the SCR process and reviews. challenges and approves its assumptions and results
3.3 Principal risks from insurance activities and use of financial instruments

The risk management section of the strategic report, in the DLIC annual report. also sets out all the risks assessed by the
Company as principal risks Detailed below is the Company's risk exposure arising from its insurance activities and use of
financial instruments specifically in respect of insurance risk. market risk, credit risk. operational risk and liquidity risk.

3.%5.1 Insurance risk

The Company is exposed to insurance risk as a primary consequence of its business. Key insurance risks focus on the risk of
loss due to fluctuations in the timings, amount. frequency and severity of an insured event relative to the expectations at
the time of underwriting.

The Company is mainly exposed to the following insurance risks
Reserve risk

Reserve risk relates to both premium and claims This is the risk of understaterment or overstatement of reserves arising
from:

- the uncertain nature of claims, in particular large bodily injury claims,

- unexpected future impact of socioeconomic trends or regulatory changes, for example changes to the Ogden discount
rate:

- data issues and changes to the claims reporting process:

- operational failures;

- failure to recognise claims trends in the market including a slow-down in the processing of recoveries and liabilities
with third party insurers which increases the estimation risk of these amounts; and

- changes in underwriting and business written so that past trends are not necessarily a predictor of the future.

Understaterment of reserves may result in not being able te pay claims when they fall due Alternatively, overstatement of
reserves can lead to a surplus of funds being retained resulting in opportunity cost: for example. lost investment return or
insufficient resource to pursue strategic projects and develop the business.
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Reserve risk is managed through a range of processes and controls:

- regular reviews of the claims and premiums, along with an assessment of the requirement for a liability adequacy
provision for the main classes of business by the internai actuarial team;

- the use of external actuaries to review periodically the actuarial best estimate reserves produced internally, either
through peer review or through provision of indepandent reserve estimates;

- accompanying all reserve reviews with actuarial assessment of the uncertainties through a variety of technigues
including beotstrapping and scenario anaiysis:

- use of reinsurance pregrarmmes. through Motor, Liability, Property catastrophe. Property risk and Travel, which are
renewable annually:

- oversight of the reserving process by relevant seniocr management and the Board:

- regular reconciliation of the data used in the actuarial reviews against general ledger data and reconciliation of the
claims data history against the equivalent data from prior reviews; and

- regular assessment of the uncertainty in the reserves to help the Board set management best astimate reserves

The Company's reserves are subject to the risk of retrospective changes in judicial conditions such as changes in the Ogden
discount rate. Detailed information ¢n the Qgden disconnt rate is provided in note 2.3,

Uncertainty in claims reserves estimation is larger for claims such as PPOs for which annually indexed payments are made.
typically over the lifetime of the injured party. Claims reserves for PPOs are held on a discounted basis and are sensitive tc a
change in the discount rate

The table below provides a sensitivity analysis of the potential net impact of a change in a single factor {the internal
discount rate used for PPOs, Ogden discount rate or ¢laims inflation) with all other assumptions left unchanged. Other
potential risks beyond the ohes described could have additional financial impacts on the Company.

\ncrease/’[dacrease)}in profit

before tax

T 2022 zom
At 31 December Emn £m
PPOS*
Impact of an increase in the discount rate used in the calculation of present values of 100 basis
points 30.4 422
Impact of a decrease in the discount rate used in the calculation of present values of 100 basis
points (42.1) (57.8)
Ogden discount rate’
Impact of the Company reserving at a discount rate of 0.75% compared to minus 0.25% 46.7 425
Impact of the Company reserving at a discount rate of minus 1.25% compared to minus 0.25% (64.2) {59.4)
Claims inflation®
Impact of a decrease in claims inflation by 200 basis points for two consecutive years 76.5 74.3
Impact of an increase in ¢laims inflation by 200 basis points for two consecutive years (80.5) {79.4)

Notes.

Tnese sensitiv es are net of reinsyrance and exclude the impact of taxation
2. Tnese sensitiviv'es reflect one off impacts at the ba‘ance sheet date and sheuld not be interpreted as predictions
3, Tnesens.uvives -elating to an increase or decreasa in the real discount rate used for PPOs illustrate a movermerit in the trme value of money from the assumed
level of 0.9% for reserving The PP sensitivity has been calculated on the dircct impact of the change in the real internal d'scount rate with al' other factars
gma ning unchanged
4 Ogaen discount rate sensitivity has been calculated on the direct impact of a perrmanent change in the discount rate in England and Wales with alt other
factors remnainirg unchanged. The Cornpany will consider the statutory discount rate when setting the reserves but not necessarily provide on this basis Thisis
ntendea to ensure that reserves are appropriate for current and ootential future developments
We have updated this sensitivity across 2021 and 2022, to a 200 basls goint increase/decrease in inflation in ackrowledgment of the current uncertain
econom.c environment

[

The PPO sensitivity above is calculated on the basis of a change in the Internai discount rate used for the actuarial best
ostimate reserves as at 31 December 2022. It does not take into account any second order impacts such as changes in
PPO propensity or reinsurance bad debt assumptions.

There is the risk that claims are reserved or paid inappropriately, including the timing of such activity. However, there are
claims management controls in place to mitigate this risk. as outlined below.

- claims are managed utilising a range of IT system-driven controls coupled with manual processes outlined in detailed
policies and procedures to ensure claims are handled in an appropriate. timely and accurate manner;

- each member of staff has a specified handling authority, with controls preventing them handling or paying claims
outside their autharity, as well as controls to mitigate the risk of paying invalid claims. In addition, there are various
outsourced claims handling arrangements, all of which are monitcred closely by management, with similar principles
applying in terms of the controls and procedures;

- loss adjusters are used In certain circumstances to handle claims to conclusion. This involves liaison with the
policyholder, third parties, suppliers and the Claims Function:

- specialist bodily injury claims teams are responsible for handling these types of losses, with the nature of handiing
dependent on the level and type of claim. Claims exceeding a certain threshold are referred to the technical and large
loss tearns who also deal with all other claim types above defined lirmits or within specific criteria; and

- aprocessisin place to deal with major weather and other catastrophic events. known as the ‘Surge Demand Plan' A
surge is the cellective name given to an incident which significantly increases the volume of claims reported to the
Company's Claims Function. The plan covers surge demand triggers, stages of incident. operational impact.
commiunication and management information monitoring of the plan.
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3. Risk management continued

3.3.1 Insurance risk continued
Underwriting risk

This is the risk that future claims experience on business written is materially different from the results expected, resulting
in current-year losses. The Company predominantly underwrites personal lines insurance incjuding motor, residential
property. rcadside assistance, creditor, travei and pet business.

The Company also underwrites commercial risks primarily for low-to-medium risk trades within the small and medium-
sized enterprises market. Contracts are typically issued on an annual basis which means that the Company's liability
usually extends for a 12-month period, after which the Company is entitled to decline to renew or can revise renewal terms
by amending the premium or other policy terms and conditions such as the excess as appropriate.

The Solvency li definition of underwriting risk includes catastrophe risk and the risk of loss, or of adverse change in the
value of the insurance liabilities resulting from significant uncertainty of pricing. underwriting and provisioning
assumptions related to extreme or exceptional circumstances.

The key risks relating to climate change today are UK floods and rmajor UK windstorms. The Company recognises that
climate change may impact its business over the lcnger term. In particular, there is a risk that climate change affects the
frequency and severity of extreme weather events (physical risk). which will change the Company's view of underwriting
risk. reinsurance and pricing. The Company will continue to develop its risk management systems and monitoring tools
over 7023, and accelerate the pre-emptive management actions of repricing and reinsurance as well as the strategic
management actions relating to floed resilience and underwriting footprint following the second round of the Climate
Biennial Exploratory Scenario ("CBES") analysis in early 2022, Low-frequency, high-severity weather losses are mitigated to a
significant degree by the catastroghe reinsurance programme, the ceding of home high flood risks to Flood Re, and the
commercial underwriting strategy which reduces high flocd risk exposure. The Cempany expects these specific risks to
material’se in the medium to longer term (see page 74 for definition). Furthermore, there is a risk that the Company's
insurance products will Nnot meet its customers' needs as a resuit of changes in market dynamics and customer behaviour
in relation to climate change. for example a rapid shift towards electric vehicle usage. The Company anticipates that its
continued strategic and operational response to the transition to a lower-carbon economy will support mitigation of these
risks and the associated impacts in the long term.

When underwriting policies, the Company is subject to concentration risk in a variety of forms. inciuding:

- geographic concentration risk - the Company's business is aimost wholly written in the UK general insurance market
The Group purchases a catastrophe reinsurance programme to protect against a modelied 1-in-200 year windstorm/
storm surge loss. The programme renews annuaily on 1 July and the existing cover for the period 1 July 2022 to 30 June
2023 has a retention of £150 million per weather event and an upger limit of £1.350 million:

- product concentration risk - the Company offers a diversified portfolio of products and a variety of brands sold through
a range of distribution channels to its customers: and

- sector concentration risk - the concentration of the Company to any given industry sector is monitored and analysed in
respect of commercial customers to ensure this risk is mitigated

It is important to note that none of these risk categoeries are independent of the others and that giving due consideration
to the relationship between these risks is an important aspect of the effective management of insurance risk.

Distribution risk

This is the risk of a material reduction in profit compared to plan due to the Company not writing 1ts planned policy
volurmes in each segment.

Pricing risk
This is the risk of economic loss arising from business being incarrectly priced or underwritten.
Reinsurance risk

This is the risk of inapproptiate selection and/or placement of reinsurance arrangements, with either individual or multiple
reinsurers, which renders the transfer of insurance risk to the reinsurer(s} inappropriate and/or ineffective.

Other risks include

- reinsurance concentration risk ~ the concentration of credit exposure to any given counterparty:

- reinsurance capacity being reduced and/or withdrawn:

- undenwriting risk appetite and reinsurance contract terms not being aligned.

- reinsurance contract terms being inappropriate or ineffective resulting in classes or types of business not being
appropriately reinsured,

- non-adherence to the reinsurance policy terms and conditions, in terms of both pelicy management and claims not
being handled within the reinsurance contract terms and conditions. or paid on an ex-gratia basis, resuiting in
reinsurance recoveries not being made in full:

- inappropriate or inaccurate management information and/or modeliing being used to determine the value for money
and purchasing of reinsurance (including aggregate modelling); and

- changes in the external legal regulatory, social or economic environment (including changes resulting from climate
change) altering the definition and application of reinsurance policy wordings or the effectiveness or value for money of
reinsurance
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The Company uses reinsurance to.

- protect the underwriting result against Jow-frequency, high-severity losses through the transfer of catastrophe claims
volatility to reinsurers:

- protect the underwriting resuit against unforeseen volumes of. or adverse trends in. large individual claims in order to
reduce volatility ana to improve stability of earnings;

- reduce the Company's capital requirements; and/for

- transfer risk that is not within the Cempany's current risk appetite

3.3.2 Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss resulting from fluctuations in the leval and in the volatility of market prices of assets. liabilities
and financial instruments

The Company I1s mainly exposed Lo the following market risk factors

~ spread risk;

- interest rate risk;
- pProperty risk: and
- currency risk

The Company has policies and limits approved by the Group Investrment Committee for managing the market risk
exposure These set out the principles that the business should adhere to for managing market risk and establishing the
maximum limits the Company is willing to accept having considered strategy. risk appetite and capital resources.

The Company monitors its market risk exposure on a daily basis and. in addition, has established an aggregate exposure
lImit consistent with its risk ohjective to maintain capital adequacy. Interdependencies across risk types have alsc been
considered within the aggregate exposure iimit. The allocation of the Company's investments across asset classes has been
approved by the Croup Investment Committee,

The strategic asset allocation within the investment partfolio is reviewed by the Group Investment Committee, which
makes recommendations to the Board for its investment strategy approval. The Group Investment Committee determines
policy and controls, covering such areas as risk, liquidity and performance. The Group Investment Committee meets at
least three times a year to evaluate risk exposure, the current strategy. associated policies and investment guidelines and
to consider investment recommendations submitted to it Oversight of the implementation of decisions taken by the
Croup Investrment Committee is via the first and second lines of defence.

During this phase of economic uncertainty maturities from the in-house short and intermediate sterling credit portfolios
had nct been reinvested up unti! Cctober. significantly increasing cash reserves and liquidity. However. to improve
investment returns with a low risk to solvency, cash was reinvested into £150 million of 3 month Treasury Bills, and £41
million of government related sterling credit maturities during Q4 2022,

The investment management objectives are to:

- maintain the safety of the portfolio's principal both in economic terms and from a capital, accounting and reporting
perspective;

- maintain sufficient liquidity to provide cash requirerments for operations, including in the event of a catastrophe: and

- maximise the portfolio's total return within the constraints of the other objectives and the limits defined by the
investment guidelines and capital allocation.

The Group Investment Committee has agreed long-term targets for the investment pertfolio in relation to supporting the
Company's objectives on climate change These are- ensuring the Company's entire investment portfolio is net zero
emissions by 2050 in iine with the aims of the Race to Zero campaign: and an interim target of a 50% reduction in
weighted average greenhouse gas emissions intensity by 2030 within the Company's corporate bonds portfolio, the largest
part of its investment portfolio, compared to a 2020 baseline. See page 68 of the DLIC Annual Repert for more information.

The Company has a property portfoho and an infrastructure debt portfolio to generate a real return which, from an asset
and liability matching perspeactive, is used to offset the liability arising from lenger duration PPOs.

When setting the strategic asset allocation, the Company is subject to concentration risk in a variety of forms including:

- large exposures to Individual assets (either bond issuers or deposit-taking institutions): and
- large exposures to different assets where movements in vafues and ratings are closgly correlated.

Concentration risk on investments arises through excessive exposure to particular industry secters, groups of business
undertakings or similar activities. The Company may suffer significant losses in its investment portfolio as a result of over-
exposure to particular sectors engaged in similar activities or having simitar economic features that would cause their
ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions.
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3. Risk management continued

3.3.2 Market risk continued
The table below analyses the distribution of debt securities and other fixed income securities by geographical area

Debt securities Dt securities
and other and other fixed

fixed income ncome
securitias securities
2022 2021
£m £m
Australia 116.0 1931
Austria 43 17.7
Belgium 31.6 316é
Canada 59.8 991
Cayman lslands 3.7 4.0
China a.6 1.0
Czech Republic 0.7 1.0
Denmark 17.9 1586
Finland 7.7 415
France 242.9 3075
Germany 175.7 2421
Hong Kong 9.3 —
Ireland 1.4 1.4
Italy 16.1 210
Japan 18.8 486
Luxembourg 2.6 -
Mexica 7.0 131
Netherlands 100.0 1155
New Zealand 10.0 1.0
Norway 17.7 280
Partugal 6.7 49
South Africa 6.0 1086
South Korea - 3.0
Spain 56.5 743
Sweden 23.9 65.8
Switzerland 50.0 57.3
Un ted Arak Emirates 35 35
United Kingdom 1.302.3 1,157.3
Usa 926.5 15458
Zambia 1.3 12
Supranaticnal 25.2 140
Total 3,245.7 41305
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The tables below analyses the distribution of debt securities and other fixed income securities held across industry sector

classifications

20232

2021
At 31 December £m % im %
Basic materials 48.8 1% 77.8 2%
Communications 131.1 F'§4 2021 5%
Consumer, cyclical 274.7 8% 4103 10%
Consumer. non-cychical 223.0 7% 3571 9%
Diversified 14.3 0% 192 0%
Energy Bl.2 3% 1528 4%
Financial 1,452.9 45% 20174 49%
Industrial 158.5 5% 2505 6%
Soveraign, supranational and lacal government 542.4 17% 777 2%
Technology 50.2 2% 1215 3%
Transport 13.4 0% 13.4 0%
Utilit'es 255.2 8% 430.7 10%
Total o - 3,245.7 100% 41305 100%
The table betow analyses the distribution of other |cans by industry sector classifications.
T T T 2022 o 202 :‘”-__ T

At 31 December T  em % £m T e
Social, of which:

Education 105.8 24% 1103 24%

Heaith 64.1 15% 67.2 15%
Other - ) ‘ 4£7.8 1% 49.0 1%
Total Social 217.7 50% 2265 50%
Transport 20.5 5% 243 6%
Other sectors 201.0 46% 2008 44%
Total T 439.2 100% 4516 100%

The Company uses its internal economic capital mode! to determine its capital requirements and market risk limits and
monitors its market risk exposure based on a 99 5% value-at-risk measure. The Company aiso applies market risk stress and
scenario testing for the economic impact of specific severe market conditions. The results of this analysis are used to
enhance the understanding of market risk. The market risk minimum standard explicitly prohibits the use of derivatives for
speculative or gearing purposes. However, the Company is able to and does use derivatives for hedging its currency risk
and interest rate risk exposures.

Spread risk

This is the risk of loss from the sensitivity of the value of assets and investments to changes in the level or in the volatility of
credit spreads over the risk-free interest rate term structure. The level of spread is the difference between the risk-free rate
and actual rate paid on the asset, with larger spreads being associated with higher-risk assets. The Company is exposed to
spread risk through its asset porifolio. most notably through its investment in corporate bonds.

The Company's exposure tc credit spread widening was partly de-risked in August via the sale of approximately £670
million of longer-dated US dollar investment grade credit.

Net interest rate risk

This is the risk of loss from changes in the term structure of interest rates or interest rata volatility which impact assets and
liabilities. The Company's interest rate risk arises mainly from its debt, floating interest rate investments and assets and
liabilities exposed to fixed interest rates.

The Company also invests in floating rate debt securities, whose investrment income is influenced by the movement of the
short-term interest rate. A movement of the shart-term interest rate will affect the expected return on these investments.

The market value of the Company's financial investments with fixed coupons is affected by the movement of interest rates,
For the majority of investments in US dollar and Euro debt securities. the Company hedges its exposure to US doliar and
Euro interest rate risk using swaps, excluding £286.8 million of US doilar short-duration, high-yield bonds (2021:

£348 6 million). £134 4 million of US dollar subaordinated financial debt and £93.6 million of Euro subordinated financial
debt (2021: £123.9 million and £96.2 million, respectively).

The Company is exposed to the following interest rate benchmarks within its hedging relationships: GBP SONIA. USD
SOFR and EURIBOR. The first two were subject te interest rate benchmark reform during 2021 (historically both LIBOR).
The hedged items include holdings of US dollar and Euro denominated fixed rate debt securities.
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3. Risk management continued

3.3.2 Market risk continued

Net interest rate risk continued

Not all the infrastructure loans as at 31 December 2022 have transitioned away from CBP LIBOR over to GBP SONIA
Where legal documentation has yet to be completed. in the immediate future reference of rates will be linked to synthetic
GBP LIBOR

The table below discieses in more detail for the transition from LIBOR to CBP SONIA for infrastructure loans.

T

i

Nominal
Non-darivaiive floating rate financal Numier of exposure
nStrarments pricv to transitior Maturing in instrurments 1 (Em Transition progress
Infrastructure debt linked to 2024 - 2040 28| 2382~ 23 loans have completed transition to SONIA;
LIBOR - five loans {totaliing £67.9 million) are yet to

transition to SON1A, of which:
{i) four loans are expected to transition from &
month GBP synthetic LIBOR to SONIA on the
next roli date at the end of March Z023; and
(i) one loan (tataliing £7.6 million} wili be repaid
infull early in Q2 2023.

T

Property risk

This is the risk of loss arising from sensitivity of assets and financial investments to the level or volatility of market prices.
rental yields. or sccupancy rates of properties. As at 31 December 2022, the value of land and buildings was £278.5 miliion
(2021: £317.0 mittion), The land and buildings are located in the UK

Currency risk

This is the risk of loss from changes in the level or volatility of currency exchange rates

Exposure to currency risk is gencrated by the Company's investments in US dollar and Euro denominated debt bonds.

The Company maintains exposure to US dollar securities through £751.0 million {2021: £1,.376.5 million) of investments in
US dollar bonds and Eure securities through £165.4 million {202 1: £197.7 million) of Euro bonds. The fareign currency
exposure of these investments is hedged by foreign currency forward contracts, maintaining a minimal unhedged
currency exposure on these portfolios, as well as a low basis risk on the hedging contracts.

A limited exposure to currency risk also arises through the Company's insurance and other contractual liabilities.
Currency risk is not considered to be material,

Use of derivatives
As mentioned above, the Company uses derivatives to hedge against interest rate and currency risk.

The tables below analyse the rmaturity of the Company's derivative assets and liabilities.

Notional

amounts Maturity anc fair vaiue
o tn;r; - o

year 1 -5 years Over 5 years Total
At 31 December 2022 £m £m £m £m £m
Derivative assets
At fair value through the profit and loss account
Foreign exchange contracts (forwards) 1.014.4 24.2 — - 24.2
Designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate swaps 240.4 8.0 0.5 05 7.0
Total 1,254.8 30.2 0.5 o5 3.2

B i o Not;ona o
amounts Maturity ana fair vaiue
o 855 i;wan ! o

year 1 -5 years Over 5 years Total
At 31 December 2022 ) Em £rm £ £m £m
Derivative liabilities 7 ) ) B ’
At fair value through the profit and loss account
Foreign exchange contracts {forwards) 1,190.4 284 — — 28.4
Designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate swaps 107.6 — 0.2 10 1.2
Total o N 1,298.0 284 02 1.0 29.6
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Notionai
amounts Maturity and fair value
T Less than ’ o |
year 1 5years Over S years Total
At 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m Em
Derivative assets
At fair value through the profit and loss account
Fareign exchange contracts (forwards) 1.695.4 278 - — 278
Interest rate swaps 2500 2.4 - — 24
Designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate swaps 3010 (0.9} 36 30 57
Total 28464 203 36 3.0 359
o 7N0(i0nré;ww o
amaounts Maturity and fair value
' o 7Less than ° 7 n
year 1 -5 years Over 5 years Tota
At 31 December 2021 £ cm £m £m £m
Derlvative liabilities
At fair value through the profit and loss account
Foreign exchange contracts (forwards) 13189 19.1 — — 191
Designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate swaps 91 — - 0.1 0.1
Total - T 1.328.0 19.1 - o1 192

Sensitivity analysis
The table below provides the sensitivity analysis of the potential impact on financial investments and derivatives of a

change in a single factor with all other assumpticns left unchanged. Other potential risks beyond the ones described in the
table could have an additicnal financial impact on the Company.

Decrease
increase/|decrease) it shareholder s funds
in prqﬁf:_b_e'_’ore tax at 31 December
2022 707 2022 2021
£m fm Em £m

Spread
Impact of 2 100 basis points increase in spreads on financial
investments’® - — {82.3) (144.2)
Interest rate
Impact of a 100 basis points increase in interest rates on financial
investments and derivatives’®* 5.9 118 {70.6) (100.5)
investment property
Impact of a 15% decrease in property markets (41.8) [475) {41.8) {47.5)
Notes

Trese sens tivi es exclude the impact of taxation and have not considered tne impact of the general market changes on the va ue of the Corrpany s INsurance
liabilit es Trey reflect one-off ympacts at 31 December and should not be Interpreted as predictions

2 Tre profit angd loss account impact on financial investrments s rited to floating rate instruments and interest rate derivatives used to hedge a portion of the
parsfolio The prefic and loss account 1s not Impacted in relauon to fixed rate instruments, 1N particular AFS debt securities, where the coupon return s not
‘mpactad by a change in prevaliing market rates, as the accounting treatment for AR5 debt securities means that only the coupon received 1s processed
wnrougn the proft and juss account with fair value movements being recognised through equity

3 Tre ncrease or decrease in sharebolder s funds doos not reflect any fair vaiue movernent in infrastructure debt commercial real estate loans and HTM debt
securitias that wouid not be recorded 10 the financial statements under IFRSs as they are classified as loans and receivables and HIM respectively which are
carred at amortsed cost IL1s estvnated that a fair va'ue reductian i these asset categor es resulting from 3 100 basis points increase in spreads would have
been £12 1 = lion (2027 £13 7 mihon) and & 100 kasis points increase in interest ratas would have been £37 miilion (2021 £4 8 million).

4 Tne sensitiv ties set out above reflect one off impacts at 37 December, with the exception of the profit and loss account interest rate sensitivity on financial
ryestrrents and dervatives which projects a mavernent in a fuil year s interest charge as a rasuit of the increase in the interest rate applied tc these assets or
llagilit es or those positions heid at 31 Becember.

The Company has a number of open interest rate and foreign exchange derivative positions. Collateral management
arrangements are in place for significant counterparty exposures. At 31 December 2022 the Company has pledged

£19.2 million in cash (2021: £26.3 miliion) to cover initial margins and out-of-the-money derivative positions. At

31 December 2022. counterparties have pledged £7 1 miltion in cash and £nil million in UK Gilts {2021: £5.4 million in cash
and £2.2 mijtion in UK Gilts) to the Company to cover in-the-money derivative positions.

The terms and canditions of coliateral pledged for both assets and liabilities are market-standard. When securities are
pledged they are required to e readily convertible to cash. and as such no policy has been established for the disposal of
assets not readily convertible into cash
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3. Risk management continued

3.3.3 Credit risk

This is the risk of loss resulting frem defaults in obligations due and/or changes in credit standing of either issuers of
securities, counterparties or any debtors to which the Company is exposed. The Company is mainly exposed to
counterparty default risk.

Counterparty default risk

This is the risk of loss fram unexpected default or deterioration in the credit standing of the counterparties and debtors of
Company undertakings, This risk is monitcred by three forums: the investment Risk Forum monitors credit spreads as
indicatars of potential losses on investments incurred but not yet realised; the Credit Risk Forum monitors reinsurance and
corporate insurance counterparty default risk: and the NIG Credit Committee is responsible far monitoring broker credit
risk. The main responsibility of these forums is to ensure that all material aspects of counterparty defauit risk within the
Company are identified, monitored and measured.

The main sources of counterparty default risk for the Caompany are:

- investments - this arises from the investment of funds in a range of investment vehicles permitted by the investment
policy:

- reinsurance recoverias - this arises in respect of reinsurance claims against which a reinsurance bad debt provision is
assessed. PPOs have the potential to increase the ultimate value of a claim and, by their very nature. to increase
significantly the length of time to reach final payment. This can increase reinsurance counterparty default risk in terms
of both amount and longevity:

- commercial credit - this arises as brokers collect premiums on behalf of the Company: and

- consumer credit - exposure from offering monthly instalments on annual insurance contracts.

The Comparny cedes insurance risk to reinsurers but, in return, assumes counterparty default risk against which a
reinsurance bad debt provision is assessed. The financial security of the Company's panel of reinsurers is therefore
important and both the quality and amount of the assumed counterparty default risk are subject to an approval process
whereby reinsurance is only purchased from reinsurers that hold a credit rating of at least A- at the time cover is
purchased. The Company's ieading counterparty exposures are reviewed on a guarterly basis by the Reinsurance and
Credit Manager. The Company aims to deal with a diverse range of reinsurers on its contracts to mitigate the credit and/or
non-payment risks associated with its reinsurance exposures.

The following tables analyse the carrying value of financial and insurance assets that bear counterparty default risk
between those assets that have not been impaired. and by age in relation to due date. and those that have been impaired.
The Company's maximum expesure to credit risk is represented by the carrying values of the financial assets and insurance
assets listed below. The Company does not use credit derivatives or similar instruments tc mitigate exposure.

N P fastdue | 90 Pastdue more  oeme Ealence

impaired days than 30 days sheet

At 31 December 2022 Em £rm m £m
Debt securities and other fixed income securities 3,245.7 - — 3,245.7
Other loans £39.2 — — 439.2
Derivative financia! instrurments 31.2 — — 31.2
Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions * 1,028.8 — 0.1 1,028.9
Debtors 909.0 g0 — 918.0
Cash at bank and ir‘n_h__gmd3 864.9 - — 864.9
Total - ' B 6,518.8 9.0 0.1 6,527.9
Neither past Carry.ng value

duenor Pastdue !l 90 Pastduerore :nthe baance

impared days thar 90 days skeat

At 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £rm
Debt securities and other fixed inceme securities 41305 — — 41305
Other loans 451.6 — — 4516
Derivative financial instruments 359 — — 359
Reinsurers share of technical provisions * 11825 - 638 1.1833
Debtors 760.7 - — 7607
Cash at bank and in hand® 7232 - — 7232
Total 72844 - 6.8 7.291.2

Notes

None af tnese ameunts fall due after more than one year
2 Re~su-ers share of technical orovisions previous!y inc'uded reinsurers unearned cremium reserve with comparatwve data for the year ended 37 December
2027 12 presented accordingly This change was made dueg 0 reinsurers urearned premiurm reservas be.ng assessed as having "o inherent credit risks.
3 T represe~ts morey market fLnds with no notice period for withdr-awal and casn at bark
Within the analysis of debt securities above are bank debt securities at 31 December 2022 of £961 2 million (2021: £1.350.6
million) that can be further analysed as: secured £11.2 million {2021: £15.5 million): unsecured £795.3 miltion (2021,
£1.178.0 million): and subordinated £1547 million (2021; £157.1 million).
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The Lables below dndlyse the credit quality of debt securities and other fixed income securities that are neither past due
ner impaired.

AAA Al 1o AA- A Lo A- B8BB-to BEB: 8B+ and below Not rated Tota!

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 31 December 2022 123.9 644.3 1,268.5 920.1 287.2 1.7 3,245.7
At 31 December 2021 88.4 3729 1.888.0 1,429.0 3522 — 41305

The tables below analyse the credit quality of financial and insurance assets that are neither past due nor impaired
(excluding debt securities analysed above} The tables include reinsurance exposure, after impairment provision. The
Company's approach to reinsurance counterparty default risk management is detailed on page 38.

ALA Al ta AR A-te A BBB+ to BBB- BB+ and below Nat rated Total

At 31 December 2022 . fm S Emo £m £m fm Em  fm
Other loans 157 641 1263 2171 141 1.9 439.2
Derivative financial

instruments — 79 233 - - — 31.2
Reinsurers' share of technical

p(cv]sions‘ — 516.0 5115 1.4 — —_ 1,028.9
Debtors® - 87 482 33 - 8488 909.0
Cash at bank and in hand® 747.7 7.8 1085 o8 - - 864.9
Total 763.4 604.5 817.8 222.7 14.1 850.7 3,273.2
o AAA AA- 1o AA- i f-;;- to A- BBE+to BBB- BR+and below MNot rated o T;Jlt:aw\“
At 31 December 2021 m m Em £m £m £m £rm
Other loans 177 733 1348 2300 158 — 451.6
Derivative financial

instruments . 79 9.9 181 - - 359
Reinsurers share of technical

pro\”sions“ — 6375 5282 1.9 — 149 1,1825
Debtors? — 374 273 115 - 684.5 760.7
Cash at bank and in hand® 569.7 262 1237 36 — - 7232
Total 587.4 782.3 8239 2451 158 699.4 31539
Notes

I Rensdrers share of technical provisions previously included rensurers unearned premium reserve Cormparative data for the year ended 37 December 2021 has

been re-presented accordingly
2 .ncludes receivables due fram policyholders, agents, brokers and intermediaries which generally do not have a crecit rating
3 Thgs represents rmoney market funds with no notice period for withdrawal and cash at bank and ir hand

1.3.4 Operational risk

This is the risk of loss due to inadequate or failed internal processes, pecple, systems, or from external events, Material
sources of opearational risk for the Company include:

Change risk

This is the risk of failing to manage the Company's business change portfolic resulting in conflicting priorities and failure to
deliver strategic olitcomes to time, cost or guality.

Technology and infrastructure risk

This is the risk that the IT infrastructure is insufficient to deliver the Company's strategy.

Supplier management and outsourcing risk

This is the risk of failing to implement a robust framework for the sourcing, appeintment and ongoing contract
management of third-party supphers. outsourced service providers and intra-greup relationships This includes both

domestic and offshore outsourcing activities.

Cyber risk

This is the risk of loss or corruption to Company or customer data. intellectual property or failure of business-critical
systerns resulting in reputational damage, regulatory censure, supervision, fines and/or loss of competitive advantage.
Partnership contractual obligations

This is the risk of contractual obligations not being delivered for business partners resulting in damaged reputation, the
loss of contract at renewal. significant liability payments and/or the early termination of a partnership scheme.

The Company has in place agreed policies and standards to establish and monitor key controls relating to operational risk.
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3. Risk management continued

3.3.4 Operational risk continued

Risk concentrations and management

The Company is subject to concentration in its operational risks through, for example, its IT systems and change
programmes; which include the risk of losses in a number of scenarios such as system outages and data security breaches.
Technology remains at the heart of the Company operations and focus is on upgrading Cormpany iT systems and
capabilities, aimed at expanding the Company's digital offerings. capitalising on the Company's data, improving customer
experience and overall increasing operational efficiency.

The Company proactively manages its operationai risks to mitigate potential customer harm. regulatory or legal censure,
financia! and reputational impacts. The Company has in place operational processes and systems, including prevention
and detection measures These include processes which seek to ensure the Company can absorb and/or adapt to internal
or external events that could impact custormer operations and the wider business. as well as to learn from these situations
to improve the Company's overali risk and control systems moving forward.

The Group's risk management framework s designed to enable it te capture risk informaticn in a complete and consistent
way. enabling proactive trend analysis, root cause analysis and read across to facilitate early warnings and a ‘learning’ risk
environment.

3.3.5 Liquidity risk

This is the risk of being unable to access cash from the sale of investments or other assets in order to settle financial
obligations as they fall due.

The measurernent and management of the Company’s liquidity risk is undertaken within the ifmits and other policy
parameters of the Company's liquidity risk appetite and is detailed in the liguidity risk minimum standard As part of this
process. the Investment and Treasury team is required to put in place a liquidity plan which must consider expected and
stressed scenarios for cash inflows and outflows that is reviewed at least annually by the Group Investment Committee
Compliance is monitored in respect of bath the minimum standard and the regulatory requirements of the PRA,

The following table analyses the carrying vaiue of financial investments and cash at bank and in hand. by contractual
maturity, which are able to fund the repayment of liabilities as they crystallise.

watmn Over

1 year 1-3years 3 -5Syears 5 10 years 10 years Total
At 31 December 2022 £m £m £m £m £m Em
Debt 'se.acur\tues and other fixed income 7986 9791 8074 5317 1289 3.245.7
securities
Other joans 74.7 978 123 92.0 51.6 4397
Cash at bank and in hand 864.9 - - - - 864.9
Total 1,738.2 1,076.9 930.5 623.7 180.5 4£,549.8
- 7 .\;Vithin . o Qver |
T year 1 3Zyears % - Syears 5 0years 10 years Total
At 31 December 2021 £m £rn £m £m £m £m
Debt securities and other fixed incame 4618 9727 12932 12809 1219 41305
securities
Other ipans 1016 88.4 94.0 101.7 65.9 4516
(Casnatpankandinhand’ 7232 -~ - 7232
Total 1.286.6 1.061.1 1.387.2 13826 1878 53053
Note

' Tmis represents money market funds with no notice per od for withdrawal and cash at bank ard tr band

The following table analyses the undiscounted cash flows of insurance and financial liabilities by contractua!l repricing or
maturity dates. whichever is earlier.
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Less than 1
year T 5 years 3 Syears 5- 10 years Qver 10 years Total Carrying vaiue
At 31 December 2022 £m £m £m Em £m £m £m
Claims outstarding’ 13156 921.3 4355 3821 15753 4,629.8 36327
Qedltors arising put of direct 2 - _ . _ 3.4 34
insurance operations
Cr.edmors arising out of 574 _ _ B B 57.4 574
reinsurance cperations
Amounts‘due to Croup 41 4 B - N _ §1.4 414
undertakings
Amoun;s owed to credit 606 _ _ _ _ 60.6 606
institutions
Lease liabilities 59 17 1.7 293 278 86.4 651
Othe_r creditors xrjc\udmg 185.0 B _ _ _ 185.0 1850
taxation and sacial security N .
Total 1,669.3 933.0 447.2 4114 1,603.1 5,064.0 4,045.6
Less than 1
year 1- 3years 3 - Syears 5- T0years Qver ~ 0 years Total  Carrying value
At 31 December 2021 £m £m Em £m Em fm £m
Subordinated liabilities 2619 — — - — 261.9 2553
Claims outstanding’ 1.184.0 09949 478.8 3818 1.4707 4510.2 36535
_Credltors arising Qut of direct 41 B - _ _ 4 40
insurance operations
Cr_edltors arising Ol_!t of 455 _ _ _ _ 455 455
reinsurance operations
Amounts‘due to Group 26.3 - N _ _ 86.8 868
undertakings
Ampujtsowed to credit S 6 - B o _ 516 516
institutions
Lease liabilities 5.7 1.4 11.4 284 327 89.6 66.2
Other creditors |r_1c\ud|ng_ 1635 - B B _ 1625 1625
taxation and social security o
Total 1.803.1 1.006.3 490.2 4102 1.5034 52132 43265
ANote
Claims cutstanding exclude reserve for unearned premiums as there are no liquidity hisks iInherent i them
The following table analyses the undiscounted cash flows of derivative financial instruments, by contractual maturity.
- Within o Over Carrying
T year 1-3years 3 GLycars S - 10 years "Qyears Tatal value
At 31 December 2022 £ £m £m £ £m £m £
Derivative assets 315 —_ — - - 315 312
Derivative liabilities (29.6) - - — - (29.6) (29.6)
Total 1.9 - - - - 1.9 1.6
T e  over Carrying
1 year 1-3years 3 -5 years 5 - 10 years 10 years Total valus
At 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m £m £rm £m
Derivative assets 274 3.1 32 2.8 - 365 359
Derivative liabilities {19.2) — — - - (19.2) (19.2)
Total 8.2 31 32 28 — 173 1687
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3. Risk management continued

3.4 Capital management

The Company manages capital in accordance with the Group's capital management minimum standard, the aims of
which are to manage capital efficiently and generate long-term sustainable value for shareholders, while balancing
operational, regulatory, credit rating agency and policyholder requirements. The Company seeks to hold capital resources
such that, in normai circurmstances, the sclvency capital ratio is maintained above a minimum threshold of 128% of its
SCR.

The Company's regulatory capital position is assessed against the Sclvency I framework From 1 July 2016, the Company
gained approval to assess its SCR using an internal medel. including an internal economic capital model. The model is
calibrated to a 99.5% confidence interval and considers business written to date and one year of future written business
over a one-year time horizon, in line with Solvency li requirements.

During the year, the Company complied with all external capital requirements.
3.5 Capital adequacy {unaudited)

Using the Company's internal model, there is a capital surplus of approximately £0.32 billion above an estimated SCR of
£1.17 billion as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: £0.792 billion and £1.30 killion respectively). The Company's
capital regquirements and solvency position are produced and presented to the Company board on a regular basis.
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4. Segmental analysis
The Chief Operating decision makers, being the Acting Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, regularly

review the operating results at the segmental level as described below and disciosed in the tables in this note to assess
performance and make decisions akout allocation of resources.

Motor

This segment consists of personal motor insurance together with the associated legal protection cover. The Company seils
motor insurance direct to customers through the Croup's own brands Direct Line, Churchill, Privilege and Darwin, and
through partnership brands such as vehicle manufacturers and through price comparison websites ('"PCWSs").

Home

This segment consists of home insurance together with associated legal protection cover. The Company sells home
insurance products through the Group's brands Direct Line, Churchill and Privilege, and its partnership brands (Royal Bank
of Scotland and NatWest) as well as through PCWs.

Rescue and other personal lines

This segment consists of rescue products which are sold direct through the Group's own brand, Green Flag, and other
personal lines insurance. including travel. pet and creditor sold through its own brands Birect Line, Churchill and Privilege.
and through partnership brands and through PCWs.

Commercial

This segment consists of commercial insurance for small and medium-sized enterprises sold through the Group's brands
NIC, Direct Line for Business and Churchill. NIG sells its preducts exclusively through brokers operating across tha UK

Direct Line for Business selis its preducts directly to customers. and Churchill sells its products directly to customers and
through PCWs,

Run-off partnerships

The Company has run-off. or is seeking to run-off, three partnerships which will reduce its exposure to low margin
packaged bank accounts so it can redeploy capital to higher return segments. The run-off partnerships relate to a Rescue
partnership with NatWest Group that expired in December 2022 and Travel partnerships with NatWest Group and
Nationwide Building Society which expire in 2024, where the Company has indicated that it will not be seeking to renew.

No inter-segment transactions occurred in the year ended 31 December 2022 {2021: £nil). If any transaction were to occur,
transfer prices between operating segments would be set on an arm's-length basis in a manner similar to transactions with
third parties. Segment income, expenses and results will include those transfers between business segments which will
then be eliminated on consoclidation. For each operating segment. there is no individual policyholder or customer that
represents 10% or more of the Company's total revenue.

The following table analyses the Company's technical account by reportakle segment for the year ended 31 December

2022
o Rescue
and other Total -
persona' ongoing Ruﬂ-of}’
Motor Home nes  Commrercial operatiehs partnerships Total
fm £rm fm £m tm £fm £fm
Earned premiums, net of reinsurance 1.412.6 5173 272.8 6424 2,845.1 1221 2,967.2
Claims incurred, net of reinsurance {1.357.5) (414.8) {147.2) (3547) {2,274.2) (1104) (2,384.6)
Net operating expenses (430.4) (140.8) (76.7) {2642)  (9121)  (25.]) (937.2)
Balance on technical account for (375.3) (38.3) 480 235 (341.2) (13.4) (354.6)
general business
Maovement on non-technical account 216.8
Loss ?n ordinary activities before (137.8)
taxation
Loss ratio 96% B80% 549 55% 80% 0% 80%
_Expense ratio and commussion ratio 30% 27%  28% 47% 32% 21% 32%
Combined operating ratio 126% 107% B2% 96% n2% m# Nnay
T T S Rescue B T -
and other Total -
persona ongoing Run off
Mator Home lines Commercial operations partnersmps Total
£ £rrt £m tm £m £m £m
Segment assets 48432 8366 1085 1.3128 7.101.1 605 2,161.6
Segments liabilities (3.8346) (662.4) (85.9) (1.0333) (5,622.2) {479) (5,670.1)
Segment net assets 1,008.6 174.2 22.6 2735 1,478.9 12.6 1,491.5

Note

T Orgoing operaniors and run-off partnerships - 5ee glossary on pages 2510 253 in the DUC Annual Repor for defimuons
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4. Segmental analysis continued

The segrmental analysis of assets and liabilities is prepared using a combination of asset and liability balances directly
attributable to each operating segrment and an apportionment of assets and liabilities managed at a Group-wide level. This
does not represent the Group's view of the capital requirements for its operating segments

The following table analyses the Company's technical account by reportable segment for the year ended 31 December

2023.
o o - - RESEII; V o -
and other Total -
personai ongoing Run-off
Motor Home lnes  Commereial operations parrnershlps' Total
£m £m £m £m £m im £rm
Earned premiums, net of reinsurance 14733 553.4 2723 5612 2.8602 972 29574
Claims incurred. net of reinsurance (1.038.5) (280.4) (13586) {3127y (1.767.2) {498) (1.817.0)
Net operating expanses o (460.4) (172.8) (81.0) l2§_2 3) (973 5) e02)y (O ‘03_3_.7]7
Balance on technical account for (25.6) 932 557 {3.8) 1195 (12.8) 1067
general business T o
Movement on non-technical account ____22787.97
Profit. on ordinary activities before 3347
taxation
Loss ratio 70% 51% 50% 56% G2% 51% 619%
Expense ratio and commission ratio 31% 32% _30% 45% 34% 62% 35%
Combined operating ratio 1071% B3% BO% 107% 26% 113% 26%
) o o V n B ;ESCUE‘ o - ) o
and other Total -
ersanal ongoing Run-off
Motor Home Imes  Commercial operations partnerships Total
£ £m fn fm £fm £m £m
Segment assets 56036 6846 1150 1.4231 7.826.3 92.1 79184
Segments liabilities o [s2614) (5207} - (87.5) (1,08}22) 15.957 8) (70.0) (6.021.8)
Segment net assets 13422 1639 275 3409 1.8745 22.1 1.896.6

The segmental analysis of assets and liabilities is prepared using a combination of asset and liability balances directly
attributable to each operating segment and an apportionment of assets and liabilities managed at a Group-wide level. This
does not represent the Group's view of the capital requirements for its operating segments.

Naote-

Ongoing oparatons and run off partnersh ps - See glossary an pages 25' ta 253 in the DUIG Anrual Report for defimtions  Rur-off partnerships was previously
nciuges 1 Rescue and other personal hnes segment and the comparative data for year ended 31 December 2021 has been re-presented accordingly

5. Net operating expenses

2022 20217

£m £m
Acquisition of insurance contracts 4£05.9 4331
Change in deferred acquisition costs 6.9 (10.3)
Loss on termination of property lease’ - 839
Administration expenses 524.4 5270
Total ) B i ) o 937.2 10337

Note

As part of tre reveew of the Croup s office site property strategy on 10 February 2021. the Cormpany sigrned a contract in relatior to its Bromiey site ta surrender
tne current ease and DL nsurance Services aimited signed a contract to purchase the head ease

Employees
The Company had no emplioyees during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021 none).
Auditor's remuneration

Fees for audit and non-audit services of the Company's financial statements, included within administration expenses, are
borne and recharged by a related party. DL Insurance Services Limited.

Fees paid to the Auditor in respect of the statutory audit of the Company amount to £2,247 418 (2021 £1,549.000)
Fees in respect of the audit of the Solvency It Financial Condition Report amount to £95814 (2021 £109,000).

44



DocuSign Envelape ID: 00CA2779-E434-40BF-839D-1AA72A4E9806
U K Insurance Limited 01179980

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Directors' emoluments

The total Directors' remunearation as disclosed in the 2022 DLIG annual repert is as follows:

2022 202:

£m £m

Salaries, fees. bonuses and benefits in kind 2.6 35
Gains on exercise of share options 1.8 08
Total T S 4.4 43

At 37 December 2022, no Directors (2021 no Directors) had retirement benefits accruing under the defined contribution
pension scheme in respect of qualifying service. During the year ended 31 December 2022, two Directors exercisad share
options {2021 two Directors). The full detaills of the Directors remuneration, including those of the highest paid director
are provided in full in the Directors Remuneration Report in the 2022 DLIG annual report.

6. Investment income

2022 2021

£m £m
Incerme from land and buildings 14.6 T4k
Income from other investments' 107.6 101.6
Total - 122.2 1160

Nate
1 |acore From other investments includes those measured at amortised cost af E309 mitlon {2021 £130 miliion) and those measured at fair value through
otker comprehensve income of £76.7 milion (202 . £88 6 mullion)

The following tables analyse the realised and unrealised gains and losses on derivative instruments included in investment

income.

- T T Realised | Unrealised Realised  Unrealised
2022 2022 202" ' 2021

£m £m £m Erm

‘Net (losses/gains: " o
AFS debt securities {24.9) - 8.6 —
Hedging (31.0) 25.0 (5.2 81)
Land and buildings - {39.1) 0.2 376
Total o (55.9) (14.1) 36 295

Total investment income decreased by £967 miilion to £50.3 million {2021: £147.0 million) primarily driven by realised and
unrealised losses resulting from write downs in fair value adjustments of commercial property (£39.1 million] and £24.9
miliion of realised losses from disposals of Company debt security holdings, predominantly relating to actions taken to
reduce the Company's longer duration US dollar ¢credit holding.

2022 2021

_ £m £m
Foreign gﬁﬁge- ?m]edglng - o o
Foreign exchange forward contracts’ (184.1) (2.6}
Associated foreign exchange risk 188.0 19
Net gains/{losses) on foreign ex'cha)rflé'é h:edging T 39 (07
Interest rate hedging: T T o T
Gains on interest rate swaps' designated as hedge instruments 68.8 335
Change in fair value on designated hedge iterms {78.5} {(35.1)
" interest rate hedging ineffectiveness o (9.7) - “(1”_6)
Undesignated interest rate hedging losses {0.2) (11.0)
Net losses on interest rate hadging i e o (9.9} (126)
Total hedging losses o (6.0)  (133)

Note

Al foreign exchange forward contracts and ceriain interest rate swaps are measured at fair value through the profit and |oss account There are also inlerest rate
swans desigrated as hedging instrurments
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6. Investment income continued

The Company holds fixed rate USD and EUR denominated bonds whose fair value is exposed to movements in interest
rates. in order to economically hedge the interest rate risk of these bonds the Company enters into hedges paying a fixed
rate and receiving floating interest rate swaps, which are subsequently designated as hedging instruments in a fair value
hedge.

At 37 December 2022 the total USD and EUR denominated bonds was £976.4 million (2027: £1,574.2 million). The notional
exposure of the interest rate swaps at 31 December 2022 was an asset of £240.4 million and a liability of £107.6 million
(2027 asset of £901.0 million and a liakility of £9 1 million) The hedged risk is the change in the fair value of the bonds
which is attributable to changes in the SOFR and EURIBOR curves

The table below analyses investment expenses and ¢harges:

2022 2021
£m £fm
Impairment of financial investments 18 21
Interest expense on subordinated loan 7.5 238
Net interest received on interest rate swap' (2.2) (5.3)
Unrealised losses on interest rate swap' 2.4 58
Armortisation of fair value hedging adjustment of subordinated liabilities [{A)] (36)
Investment fees 9.5 95
Interest expense on lease liabilities 2.6 27
Total B T b ' o 20.5 R

Note

" Asdescribed nnote 20.0on 27 Apri. 2012 the Group issued subordirated guaranteed dated Tier 2 notes with a nominal value of £500 miliion at a fixed rate of
9 25% Onihe same date, DG issued a loan of £500 million ta the Company at a fixed rate of 8.5% Trne Company also entered into a 10-year interast rate swap
w0 excharge tne fixed rate am the rnotes, issuad Oy the Croup, far a foating rate On 8 Decermiber 2017 the Company revised the hedge reflacting the repurchasea
by the Croup of subardinated guararmteed dated notes with a nominal value of £250 mulion On 31 July 2020, the Company idenufied that the hedge no longer
~et the cr teria of nedge effectiveness under 1AS 39 Financial instruments. Recognition and Measurement’ and. urder the rules of the standard. the
accumu'ated nedgng adjustment was amarused to the profit and loss account from the date of the last successful hedge effectiveness test over the remaining
li‘e of the subordinated debt usirg an effective Interest rate calculation The remair ng nates with a nominal value of £250 milion were radeemed @0 full on 27
Apr 2022

7. Other income

202z 202"

£m £m
Instalment income 92.3 973
Revenue from contracts with customers:
Pane! fees 74.0 —
Vehicle replacement referral income 14.6 131
Other income 4,2 35 '
Total o N 1851 1139
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8. Taxation
. T 2022 o
£m tm
Current taxation:
(Credit)/charge for the year (26.7) 835
Over-provisicn in respect of prior year {0.2} —
o S - B - (26.9) Bi’E
Deferred taxation:
Chargeficredit) for the year 0.4 (2.8)
Under-provision in respect of prior year 0.2 -
0.6 (36)
Current taxation (26.9) 835
Deferred taxation 0.6 (3.6)
Tax {credit}/charge for the year (26.3) 799

The following table analyses the difference between the actual income tax charge and the expected income tax charge

computed by applying the standard rate of UK carporation tax of 1 9%' (2027: 19%).

2022

2021

£m £m

[Loss)/profit before tax {137.8) 3347

Expected tax (credit)/charge for the year (26.2) 63.6
Effects of

Disallowable expenses - 17.3

Non-taxable iterns {0.1) (0.2)

- Effect of change in carporation taxation rate’ L - (0.8

Tax (credit)/charge for the year T {26.3) 79.9

Effective income tax rate 19.1% 239%

Note

1 Inthe Finarce Act 2021 the Uk Covernment enacted. on 10 June Y021, ar increase in the UK carparation tax rate from 19% to 25% effective from 1 April 2023
As a consequence te Closing deferred tax assets and habilities have been recognised at the tax rates expected to apply when the temporary differences
-everse The impact of this change on the tax charge for the year is set put in the table abeve

The aggregate current and deferred tax relating to items that are charged or credited to equity is £ril (2021: £nit}.
The table below analyses the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Company and movements

thereon.

Provisions and

Nor- other
distrbutabie temporaty  AFS revaluation

raserve differences reserve Tota.

£m £m £m £m

At1January 2021 (4.8) 4.5 {14.6) {(19.8)
Creditficharge} to the profit and loss account 4.8 {(1.1) (0.1} 36
Credit to other comprehensive income - - vz 172
At 31 December 2021 ST - 35 (2.5 1.0
Charge to the profit and |oss account - {0.4) {0.2) (0.6)
Credit to other comprehensive income - - 67.4 67.4
At 31 December 2022 — 3.1 64.7 67.8

Nate

Tne nor-gistouianle reserve was a statutory claims equalisation reserve calcy ated in accordarce with the rules of the PRA Wt the intraduction of Scivency !
or 1 Januay 2016 the requirement to maintan the reserve ceased and the balance as at 31 Decerrber 2015 was taxed over the foliowing six years This was
provided ‘or in deferred tax above, as it represented the future unwind of previously claimed tax deductions “or transfers into this reserve This was fully

Jwownd at 31 December 202 |

In addition, the company has an unrecognised deferred tax asset at 31 December 2022 of £0.2 million (2027 £0 2 million)
in relation to capital losses, of which £0 2 million {2021- £0.2 million) relates to realised losses and £nil (2027: £nil} refates to

unrealised losses.
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8. Taxation continued

Defarred tax assets have been recognised in respect of AFS reserves and all other termporary differences because it is
probable that these assets will be recovered, with the exception of unrecognised capital losses where recovery is uncertain
as they are dependent on realising future capital gains. The deferred tax asset of £64.7 million in respect of AFS reserves
refates to temporary differences arising from unrealised losses. These will be relieved for tax over 10 years as a result of the
adoption of IFRS9 on 1 January 2023 triggering a tax transitiona! adjustment. Cther deferred tax assets will be recovered
over a period of one to 13 years. Recovery of deferred tax assets is dependent on future taxable profits which are expected
to arise in future years without the one-off combination of factors which led to the trading (oss for 2022, Probatility of
recgvery has been assessed based on the group's forecasts for the next four years which anticipate a return to profitability.
and it is assurmed that sufficient profits will continue to be realised in subsequent years for offset of the remaining future
tax ceductions,

9. Dividends

2022 20217

£m £
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period:
Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 of 155 pence per share 90.0 —
First interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 of 34.1 pence per share - 1980
Second Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 of 36.2 pence per share - 2100
900 4080
10. Intangible assets
= T ’ " zozz o021
£m £m
Cost
At 3 January 9.7 70
Additions 1.9 27
Disposals (7.0) —
7&". n Decemi)“er - o B a a 4.6 ’ 9.7
Amortisation
At 1January 7.3 45
Charge for the year 1.2 28
Disposals (7.0) —
‘At 31 December N ' o S 15 73
Carrying amount
At 31 December o - ' ) o 31 24
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11. Right-of-use assets - land and buildings

2022 7021
£m Em
Cost
At1January 87.8 167.7
Additions 1.9 19
Modifications - 278
Disposals’ - {109.5)
At 31 December o S o T 89.7 878
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 29.0 50.0
Depreciation charge for the year 3.7 4.7
Disposals' - (25.7)
‘At 31December — 327 290
Carrying amount
‘At31December o 57.0 58.8
Note
“ne 2021 disposal was due to the surrender of the Bromley 'ease
12. Investments - land and buildings
Retal* Aiternative
Retail warehouse Supermarkets Office Industriais Hotels sector Total
£m £m £m £fm £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2021 281 799 520 100 1053 555 179 2887
Fair value adjustments (1.5) 27 49 {0.4) 289 29 Q03 378
Disposals — = — 19.6) — - — (9.6)
Capitalised expenditure — 0.1 - — — — - 0.1
At 31 December 2021 26.6 227 56.9 - 134.2 58.4 18.2 317.0
Fair value adjustments {1.6) (1.6) (5.8) - (22.3) (8.1) 03 (39.1)
Capitalised expenditure 0.3 0.2 - - 0.1 - - 0.6
At 31 December 2022} 253 21.3 51.1 - 2.0 50.3 18.5 2785
Note

T Trecostincluded intha carying value at 31 Decemper 2022 is £2 16,4 m.lliorn (2021 £21% 8 muiiion)

Land and buildings were purchased to provide an investrment return over the fong term in accordance with the Company's
investment strategy. These properties are managed. on behalf of the Company. by a property services company.

The {and and buildings are measured at fair value derived from valuation work carried out at the balance sheet date by
independent property valuers.

The valuation conforms to international valuation standards. The fair value was determined using a methodclogy based on
recent market transactions for similar properties, which have been adjusted for the specific characteristics of each property
within the portfolio. This approach to valuation is consistent with the methodology used in the year ended 31 December
2021,

Lease agreerments with tenants are drawn up in line with local practice and the Cormpany has no exposure to leases that
include contingent rents.

The following table provides a sansitivity analysis for +/- 5 basis points and +/- 50 basis points moverment in tenants' rental
income and impact on property valuation in sterling

Baseline as at
31 fdecember

- Stk See 2022 Pee 18080
% 4983 5472 5528 5580 6.066
£m 2535 275.4 2785 280.9 308.7
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13. Shares in Group undertakings
o o - B 2022 2071

£m £m
"At 1 January and 31 December' 1.5 115
Note
TNe cost and net book value at 31 December 2022 15 £17 5 mitlion (2021 £17 5 raullion)

The Company's subsidiaries are detailed as follows:

-——-——--- ’ N i Praportion of o

Place of incorporation Type of cownership interest  vating power

Name of Crowo urdertaking and operation {share type) held Principal actvity

Churchill Insurance Company

Limited United Kingdom Ordinary 100% General insurance

Direct Line Insurance Limited'? United Kingdom Ordinary 100% Dormant

The National Insurance and

Guarantee Corporation Limited 2 United Kingdom Ordinary 100% Dormant

Notes

1 Regstered office at Churchill Court, Westmoreland Roac. Bromley, R * DP

2 |1 accardance with the requirements under sections 394A and 448A of the Companies Act 2006 there 1s no requirement to audit a dormant cormpany

14. Other financial investments

T . V ) ) 2022 ) 2021

B £m £

_E)_ebt securities and other fixed income securities™? 3,245.7 41305
Other loans

Infrastructure debt 238.2 2508
Commercial real estate loans 199.1 2008
Other loans 1.9 -
Total loans and receivables 439.2 451.6
Derivative financia! instruments (n‘o;ce 15) i 31.2 359
Other financial investments ) 3,716.1 46180

Notes

“he Comparny swaps a fixed interest rate for 8 Poating rate of interest an its JS dolar and kuro corporate debt securities by entering into interest rate
dervat ves The bedged amount at 31 Decernber 2022 was £401 8 milhon (37 Decernber 2021 £1.005 & mullion]
2. |7 debr securities and otner fixed income securities there are £98 2 mil.ion (202 £37 2 milhon] secunties classified as HTM the rema nder are classified as AFS

15. Derivative financial instruments

2021

2022
£m fm

Derivative assets

At fair value through the profit and loss account:

Foreign exchange contracts (forwards) 24.2 278
Interest rate swaps - 24
Designated as hedging instruments

interest rate swaps 7.0 57
Total 31.2 359
Derivative liabilities

At fair value through the profit and loss account:

Foreign exchange contracts (forwards) 28.4 191
Designated as hedging instruments

Interest rate swaps 1.2 [y
Total 29.6 192
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16. Reinsurers' share of technical provisions

2022 2021

N . Em em
Reinsurers share of claims outstanding 1,059.8 11453
Impairmenftﬁ provision {30.9) ) [35.7)
Total excluding reinsurers’ uneamed premiurr‘n reserves - 1,028.9 11086
Provision for cutstanding premiums o 55.6 79.7
Total T o 1,084.5 1.189.3

Notes
1. impairmert orovision relates to “einsurance debtors a‘lowing for the nsk that reinsurance assets may not be coilectad or where one or more reinsu-ers credit
rating has oeer sgnificantly downgraded and it may nave d:fficulty in meeting its ob igations. Of this amount a totai of FO* million s past due {2021, £58

rilhon)

Movements in reinsurance asset impairment provision

- 2022 2021

Em £m
At1January (35.7) (44.5)
Additional provision (2.1} (32)
Released to profit and loss account 6.9 120
At 31 December T T (30.9) (35.7)
17. Deferred acquisition costs
i o ) 2022 201
£m fm
At 1 January 187.4 1730
Additions 396.9 401.8
Recaognised in the profit and loss account (395.1) {387.4)
At 31 December 189.2 1874
18. Called-up share capital
- T 2022 021
£m £m
lssued and fully paid- equity shares
580.8 million Crdinary Shares of £1 each 580.8 5808
‘Share premium - o ) 150.0 1500
730.8 7308

Total

The Company is a member of the Direct Line Group headed by Direct Ling Insurance Group plc of which the Company is a
subsidiary
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19. Other reserves

Movements in the AFS investments revaluation reserve

01179980

AFS
i?s;tlﬁfg’i AFS raserve
reserve transferrea’ Marger reserve’ Tota:
£m £ £m £m
At 1January 2021 85.4 05 (0.5) 854
Revaluation during the year - gross (86.0} — - {860}
Revaluation during the year - tax 15.2 - — 152
Transfer of business - realised net gains on AFS investments - gross — {0.6) 06 -
Transfer of business - realised net gains on AFS investments - tax — 0.1 (] —
Realised net loss - gross (8.0) — - 80)
Realised net loss - tax 20 — o 20
At 31 December 2021 8.6 - - 8.6
Revaluation during the year - gross {295.9} - - {295.9)
Revaluation during the year - tax 73.6 - - 73.6
Realised net gain - gross 24.9 - - 249
Realised net gain - tax (6.2) - - (6.2)
At 31 December 2022 {195.0) - - (195.0)

Note
1

On 10 December 2011 due to the Part VI transfer. Churchili Insurance Company Lirmtea, Direct Line Insurance Limited and The National insurance and

Cuarantee Corporation Limited transferred their underiying businesses inte the Company. with the exception of a smali ameount of business which remains in
Churchill The Company accourted for the transferred assets and liabil:ties using the carrying amounts of predecessor entities and in respect of AFS investments
tne Company inherited the AFS reserve at the point of the transfer Moverments in respect of tne AFS reserve transferred \n was recognised together with other
raserve movernents on AFS Investrments The anginal merger reserve transferred 1in was reduced and transferred directly 1o retained earnings upon imparment
matunty or disposal of the underlying assets The AFS reserve transferred and the merger resemve was reduced to £nil during 2021

20. Subordinated liabilities

2022 2021
Em £m
Subordinated loan — 2553

The subordinated guaranteed loan from the Company's parent, Direct Line Insurance Group plc, was issued on 27 April
2012 at a fixed rate of 9.5%. On the same date. the Company also entered into a 10-year interest rate swap to exchange
the fixed rate of interest for a floating rate of 3-month LIBOR plus a spread of 706 basis points which was credit value

adjusted to 707 basis points with effect from 29 July 2013,

On 28 February 2019 the Company's Board passed a resolution to repay £250 mitlion of the subordinated loan and this was
also approved by the DLIC Board. The repayment date was 7 March 2019 The remaining loan with a nominal value of £250
million had a redemption date of 27 April 2042, with an option to repay the loan in full on 27 April 2022 and at every
interest payment date thereafter There was also an option to wholly repay the loan when the DLIC subordinated notes

were redeemed, repurchased or cancelled in whole.

During 2020 the Company identified that the hedge no longer met the criteria of hedge effectiveness under 1AS 39
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement' and. under the rules of the standard, the accumulated hedging
adjustment was amoaortised to the profit and loss account from the date of the last successful hedge effectiveness test over
the remaining life of the subordinated debt using an effective interest rate calculation.

The loan was an unsecured, subordinated okligation of the Company. In the event of a winding-up or of bankruptcey, it was
to be repaid oniy after the claims of all other senior creditars had been met. The remaining loan was repaid in full in April

2022 after the DLIG subordinated notes were redeermed on 27 Apri1 2022 The interest rate swap hedging these notes
expired in the sarme day
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21. Claims outstanding
T T S 2022 200
£m £m
Insura;;:e Iiéi:ilities - 3.8.;.'27 36535
Gross claims outstanding
s 2014 2915 2016 2017 ams 2019 2020 7021 022 Tota
Accident year £m £m £rr £ £m Em £m £ £m £m Em
Estimate of ultimate gross claims costs:
At end of
accident year 22117 21255 21577 22160 272994 24004 22229 19112 20619 24494
One year later (117.6) 208 (30.0) (86.6) {1162} (62.3) (67.2) (1168} (52.5)
Twao years later {152.9) [385] (143.4) {53.3) {(103.1) {52.0) (56.1) (34.4)
Three years later (21.0) (1449) (€2.4) (82.8) (42.4) (9.5) (14.0)
Four years later 1102.1) (50 2) (22.9) {46.1) {21.0} (15.4)
Five years later (508) (518} (2200 (167) (128}
Six years later (27.4) (33.6) 8.9) (27.0)
Seven years later {14.0) {6.6) {9.3)
Sight years later 030 (174
Nine years later (3.0}
Current estimate of
cumulative claims 1.7226 18035 18588 19035 20039 22612 20856 17600 20094 24494
Cumulative
payments to date (1.7145) (1,7462) (1.772.7} (1.8305) (1.881.5) {2.013.3) (1.782.2) (1.390.2} {1.457.5)} {1.364.0)
Gross lability o
recognised in
balance sheet 8.1 57.3 86.1 73.0 122.4 247.9 303.4 369.8 $51.9 1,085.4 2,905.3
2012 and prior 647.4
Ciaims handling
provision - 86.0
Total 3,632.7
Net claims outstanding
T s 2014 2018 2016 2017 2008 2019 2020 2021 2027 Total
Accident year £m £m m m £m £m £m £m m £m £m
Estimate of ultimate gross claims costs:
At end of
accident year 212Y7 20020 19663 19806 20990 22262 20537 17383 1.897.9 23597
Qne year later (123.6) (29.7) (67.0) (18.9) (79.7) (41.4) {34.5) (88.0) (35.0)
Two years later (134.4) (421} (77.8) {(38.2) (65.3) (27.1) {54.6) (44.7)
Three years later (27.8) (100.8) (30.4) {437) (14.0) (27.6) (5.7)
Four years later (64.3) (41.3) (24.1) (16.9) (397) (3.1}
Five years |ater (38.9) (52.5) (20.7) (12.5) (15.1)
Six years later (17.7) (8.3} {4.6) (16.8)
Seven years later (10.8) (7.8) {7.4)
Eight years later 03 6.0)
Nine vears later (2,_'7') o
Current estimate of
cumulative ciaims 1.702.0 17135 17343 18336 18852 21270 19589 16056 18629 23597
Cumulative
payments to date (1.694.9) (1.701.6) (1.7048) (1,794 1) (1.81917) {(1,289.0) (1.755.3) (1.3659) (1,439.9) (1.362.9)
Net {iability -
recognised in
balance sheet 73 1.9 29.5 39.5 66.1 138.0 2036 239.7 423.0 9%96.8 2,155.2
2012 and prior 3626
Claims handling
provision 86.0
Total 2,603.8
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21. Claims outstanding continued

Movements in gross and reinsurance clalms outstanding

Cross Reinsurance Net

£fm Em £
Claims reported 27371 (822.7) 19144
incurred but not reported 7747 {180.5) 594.2
Ciaims handling provision o e - 779
At13January 2021 35897  (1.0032) 25865
Cash paid for claims settled in the year (1.949.0) 894 (1.859.6)
Increase/(decrease) in tiabilities:
Arising frarm current-year claims 22425 16&6.1) 20764
Arlsing from prior-year claims (229.7) {29.7} (259.4)
At 31 December 2021 36535 (1.1096) 25439
Claims reported 28152 {865.1) 1.950.1
Incurred but not reported 7597 {244 5) 5152
Claims handling provision 786 — 786
At 31 December 2021 3.653.5 {1.10986) 25439
Cash paid for claims settled in the year {2,393.7) 69.0 (2,324.7)
Increasef{decrease) in liabilities.
Arising from current-year claims 2,638.0 (88.9) 2,549.1
Arising frorm prior-year claims {265.1) 100.6 {164.5)
At 31 December 2022 3,632.7 {1.028.9} 2.,603.8
Claims reported 2,921.2 (819.6) 2,101.6
incurred but not repoerted 625.5 {209.3) 416.2
Claims handlihg provision 86.0 - 86.0
At 31 December 2022 3,632.7 (1.028.9) 2,603.8

Analysis of outstanding PPO claims provisions on a discounted and an undiscounted basis
The Company settles some |arge bodily injury claims as PPOs rather than lump sum payments.

The table below analyses the outstanding PPQ claims provisions on a discounted and an undiscounted basis at
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, These represent the total cost of PPOs rather than any costs in excess of purely
Ogden-based settlements.

Discounted Undiscounted Discounted Undiscourted

2022 2022 202! 2021
At 31 December £m £m _Em £m
Eoss claims i
Approved PPO claims provisions 475.6 1,307.2 5379 11793
Anticipated PPOs 135.8 301.3 1934 4087
Total gross 611.4 1,608.5 7313 1,588.0
Reinsurance
Approved PPO claims provisions {251.9) {718.7) (294.2) (660.3)
Anticipated PPOs (91.7) (232.5) (142.1} 3137)
Total reinsurance (343.6) {951.2) (436.3) (974.0)
Net of reinsurance
Approved PPO claims provisions 223.7 588.5 2437 5719.0
Anticipated PPOs 44,1 68.8 513 95.0
Total net 267.8 657.3 295.0 614.0

The provisions for PPOs have been categorised as either claims which have already been determined by the courts as PPOs
{approved PPO claims provisions) or those expected to settle as PPOs in the future (anticipated PPOs). The Company has
estimated the likelihood of large bodily injury ciaims settling as PPOs. The anticipated PPOs in the table above are based
on historically observed propensities adjusted for the assumed Ogden discount rate.

In the majority of cases, the inflation agreed in the settlement is the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings SOC 6115
inflation published by the Cffice for National Statistics. for which the long-term cashflow-weighted average rate is
assumed 1o be 4.2% (2021: 3.5%). The Company has estimated a cashflow-weighted average rate of interest used for the
calculation of present values as 5.1% (2027: 3.5%). which results in a real discount rate of 0.9% (2021: 0%} The Company
will continue to review the inflation and discount rates used to caiculate these insurance reserves

Detalls of sensitivity analysis to the discount rate applied to PPO claims are shown in note 3.3.1.
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22. Provision for unearned premiums

Movement in unearned premium reserve

&ross Hensurance Net

£m £m Em
At1January 2021 14971 (1039) 13932
Written in the period 317186 (186.4}) 29852
Earned in the period (31880 2106 {2.957.4)
At 31 December 2021 T - 1.500.7 (797} 14210
Written in the period 3,095.5 (141.6) 2,9539
Earned in the period e L ) {3.132.9) 165.7 (2,967.2)
At 31 December 2022 1,463.3 {55.6) 1,407.7
23. Provisions for other risks
S T R
o 7 Em €m
Other provisions o - T 54.1 50.0
Total 54.1 50.0
Movements during the year in other provisions are as follows:
- o T o ul;egulatory S T
levies Other Total
£m £rm Em
At1January 2022 48.2 1.8 50.0
Additional provision 76.6 - 76.6
Utilisation qf' provisich o {70.7) (1.8) (72.5)
At 31 December 2022 - B 54.1 - 54.1

The expected timing of any resulting outflows falis within twelve months of the balance sheet date. All regulatory jevies
relate to insurance tevies, predominantly the Financial Services Compensation Scheme and the Motor insurance Bureau.
Other provisions relate to premium refunds and a lease restructure.

24, Other creditors including taxation and social security

2;):2-2 2021

Em £fm
Other creditors! 93.9 723
Other taxes . 9.1 _— 91_2_
Total o T 185.0 1635

Note

1. Cuner creaitors prirmarlly consists of balarces relaung (o insurance policies that have been accepled put where the Croup is yet Lo go on risk, balances refating
to ureared poicynolder instalment interest income and other amounts due to policyholders.

25. Leases

Operating lease commitments where the Company is the lessor

The following table analyses future aggregate minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of property leased to third-party tenants.

2022 2021
) ) B e Em £m
Within one yréé? S S B _'I:'.W?, 128
In the second to fifth year inclusive 41.6 374
After five years e 594 = 692
Total' - T 114.3 1194

Note

At year erded 31 Decermnber 2022 £142 miilon of the gl operaling lease commitments where Lthe Company 1s the 'essor relates to the lease of land and
bulldings nely ‘or investrnent detalled in note 12 {2027 £114 4 mailion)
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25. Leases continued

Other lease disclosures
The following table analyses the amounts that have been included in the profit and loss account for leases.

2022 2027

Em fn
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 3.7 4.7
Lass on termination of property lease - 83.9
Interest on lease fiabilities ) 2,6 27
Total 6.3 913
Notes,
1 Total cash outflows in respect of leases was £5 7 mullion (2027 £37 3 miilion)
?  The Compary has ro low value or short-term legses

26. Fair value

Fair value hierarchy

Fair value is the price that would e received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liakility in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurerment date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable cr estimated using
another valuation technique

For disclosure purposes, fair value measurements are classified as level 1.2 or 3 based on the degree to which fair value is
observable:

- Level 1 financial assets are measured in whole or in part by reference to puklished guotes in an active market. In an
active market quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange. dealer, broker. industry group, pricing
service of regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's-
length basis.

- Lewvel 2 financial assets and liabilities are measured using a valuation technique based on assumptions that are
supported by prices from observable current market transactions, These include AFS debt security assets for which
pricing is obtained via pricing services, but where prices have not been determined in an active market. or financia!
assets with fajr values based on broker quotes or assets that are valued using the Croup's own models whereby the
majority of assumptions are market-observable. Derivatives are valued using broker quotes or appropriate valuation
models. Model inputs include a range of factors which are deemed to be observable. including current market and
contractual prices for underlying instruments. period to maturity. correiations, yield curves and volatility of underlying
instruments,

- Level 3 fair value measurements used for investment properties. HTM debt securities. infrastructure debt and
commercial real estate loans, are those derived from a valuation technmique that includes inputs for the asset that are
unobservable. HTM debt securities are private placed securities which do not trade on active markets, these are valued
using discounted cash flow models designed to appropriately reflect the credit and illiquidity of these instruments. The
key unobservable input elements from the discount rate used across private debt securities is the credit spread which is
based on the credit quality of the assets and the illiquidity premium. Infrastructure debt and commercial real estate are
loans which do not trade on active markets. Valuations are derived from external asset managers’ credit assessment and
pricing models. These aim to take into account movements in broader credit spreads and are aligned to varying
degrees with external credit rating equivalents

Comparison of carrying value to fair value of financial instruments and assets carried at fair value

The following table compares the carrying value and the fair value of financial instruments and other assets where the
Company discloses a falr value:

Carrying Value wever 1 Leve! 2 _evel 2 Fair Value
At 31 December 2022 Em £m £ fm £m
Assets heid at fair value:
Land and buildings (note 12} 278.5 - - 2785 278.5
Derivative financial instruments (note 15] 31.2 — 312 — Nz
Debt securities and other fixed income securities’
(note 14) 3,147.5 5112 2.6363 — 3,147.5
Other financial assets:
Debt securities and other fixed income securities’
(note 14) 98.2 - 286 610 89.6
Other loans (note 14) £39.2 - - 4357 435.7
Total assets 3,994.6 511.2 2,696.1 775.2 3,982.5
Liabilities heid at fair value:
Derivative financral instruments (note 15) 29.6 — 296 — 29.6
Total liabilities 29.6 — 29.6 - 29.6
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Carrying Valuc _eve! beva ¢ LEVE & rair Value
At 31 December 2021 Em £m £m £m £m
Assets held at fair value:
Land and buildings (note 12) 3170 — — 317.0 3170
Derivative financial instruments (note 15) 359 — 359 - 359
Debt securities and other fixed incame securities'
[note 14) 403923 356 40037 — 40393
Other financial assets:
Debt securities and other fixed income securities’
(note 14) 912 - 243 69.1 93 4
Other loans (note 14} 4516 — 4561 4561
Total assets 49350 35.6 40639 84272 49417
Liabilities held at fair value:
Derivative financial instruments (note 15) j92 — 192 — 192
Total liabilities 192 — 122 — 192

Note:
Debt sacurit es and ather fixed income securities have been split above INte Assets heild at fair value and Other financial assets The total of these as at

31 December 2022 '5 £3.2457 miiion {31 Decemper 2021 £4,1305 million}

Differences arise between carrying value and fair value where the measurement basis of the asset or liability fs not fair
value (for example; assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost). Fair values of the following assets and liabilities
approximate their carrying values:

- other debtors;

- cash at bank and in hand:

- amaunts owed te credit institutions; and
- ather creditors.

The movernents in assets held at fair value and classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy are all within land and
buildings and are analysed in note 12_along with further details on the Company's valuation approach. A summary of
realised and unrealised gains or losses in relation to land and buildings at fair value are presanted in note 6.

There were ho changes in the categorisation of assets between levels 1, 2 and 3 for assets and liabilities held by the
Company since 31 December 2027. During 2027, there was one HTM debt security with fair value of £10.7 millien
transferred from level 3 to level 2 due to market-cbservable valuation inputs.

The following table shows the unobkservable inputs used by the Company in the fair value measurement of its land and

buildings:

Fair value Valuation Unobservable Range
31 December_ _2022 _Em technique o input {weighted average) |
Equlivalent yield 4.23% -761%
laverage 5.62%)

investment property 2785 ! 'I’.‘CDT"‘E R
j capitalisation | Estimated rental value F6.50 - £32.92
: per square foot laverage £13.59)

27. Post balance sheet events

The Company has reviewed the fee for membership for its panel of repair companies and is increasing the fee from |
January 2023. Some related companies within the Group are members of the repair panel.

On 26 January 2023, the Company announced that it had entered into strategic reinsurance agreements, that together
comprise a 3-year structured 10% qucta share arrangement. The contracts incept with effect from 1 January 2023,

On 1 March 2023, the Company entered into arrangements relating to Motability Cperations and the motor insurance
needs of approximately 600.000 of its customers.
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